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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you for

          3  your patience. We're not warming up in the bullpen

          4  or anything, we're just going to jump right into the

          5  game.

          6                 Happy Valentine's Day, everybody.

          7  Thank you for coming to this Valentine's Day edition

          8  of the Environmental Protection Committee..

          9                 Good Afternoon.  I'm Councilman Jim

         10  Gennaro, Chair of the City Council's Committee on

         11  Environmental Protection. Welcome to this

         12  Committee's second hearing on goals of PlanYC or

         13  PlanNYC, dependant upon how you say that, I say

         14  PlanNYC, 2030, which is the Bloomberg

         15  Administration's plan to create a sustainable New

         16  York City by the Year 2030.  Today we'll be looking

         17  at the plan's goal to "open 90% of our City's

         18  waterways for recreation by reducing water pollution

         19  and preserving our natural areas."  We will also

         20  talk about how to best get to this goal.

         21                 We have many people who would like to

         22  testify today on this goal, so I'll leave it to the

         23  Administration's representative today, Mr. Rit

         24  Aggarwalle, the Director of the new Office of Long

         25  Term Planning and Sustainability to provide
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          2  background on the planned NYC effort, as well as to

          3  discuss how and why the administration has chosen

          4  the goal of opening 90% of our City's waters for

          5  recreation.

          6                 However, I would like to acknowledge

          7  that Council Speaker Christine Quinn and I have had

          8  the great privilege of partnering with the

          9  Administration on the Bloomberg Administration's

         10  effort on sustainability and to serve on its, it

         11  says here in my statement, serve on its star-

         12  studded advisory panel.  It's right here.  It says

         13  it right there.  Wow.  And, yes, it is written and I

         14  said it because it is true.  I must say it has been

         15  an honor, as well as an education.  And I cannot

         16  really overstate my general support for the

         17  sustainability effort.

         18                 And I like to thank some of the

         19  people who are leading it.  First of all, of course,

         20  is Mayor Bloomberg himself, for his personal

         21  commitment to this plan, and then there's Deputy

         22  Mayor Dan Doctoroff, who is directly overseeing this

         23  effort and giving it direction and fueling it with

         24  his effort and great determination.  And then

         25  there's Rit, the man who has literally been the 24/7
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          2  day to day guy who has been in charge with helping

          3  to really create this plan and marching forward and

          4  he and his great talented staff have done a good job

          5  thus far and I want to thank Rit and his team for

          6  his efforts.  But of course, before there was Rit,

          7  there was Emily.  Her great team who've done so much

          8  for so long to help the City's environment and I

          9  like to always, it's always a pleasure to have Emily

         10  and her team, I see we have Angela Licata here, it's

         11  good to see you.

         12                 Today's hearing is going to be pretty

         13  straightforward.  We like to hear, of course, new

         14  witnesses but anyone else who wishes to testify,

         15  from people who have an interest in this and from

         16  the public at large on their thoughts, on the

         17  elements, measures and all of the approaches that

         18  you believe are necessary for the plan to open up

         19  90% of our City's waters for recreation by reducing

         20  water pollution and preserving our natural areas.

         21  Your thoughts will not only help Rit and his team in

         22  putting forward the final action plan for that goal

         23  but help me and the Council to shape our input into

         24  this process.

         25                 So with that, I will thank all of you
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          2  for being here today and we're going to swear in

          3  this panel.

          4            Oops, okay, I got so wrapped up in my

          5  rhetoric that I failed to acknowledge Council Member

          6  Recchia, Council Member Dominic Recchia, a pleasure

          7  to have you here; Council Member Kendall Stewart, I

          8  know was here, hopefully he'll be coming back. We'll

          9  be joined by other Council Members as the hearing

         10  goes forward.  There are a lot of things scheduled

         11  today, on this very busy and wet and cold

         12  Valentine's Day.  So, with that said, I would like

         13  Counsel to the Committee, Donna DeCostanzo, to give

         14  the oath to the witnesses and then happy to hear

         15  your testimony, just state your name for the record

         16  and then commence your testimony.  Donna.

         17                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         18  raise your right hand.

         19                 In the testimony you are about to

         20  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         21  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         22                 MR. AGGARWALLE: I do.

         23                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: I do.

         24                 MS. LICATA: I do.

         25                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.
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          2                 MR. AGGARWALLER: Thank you

          3  Chairperson Gennaro, Councilmembers, staff and

          4  members of the public.  My name is Rohit T.

          5  Aggarwalle and I'm the Director of Long Term

          6  Planning and Sustainability in the Mayor's Office of

          7  Operations.  I want to thank the Committee for

          8  hosting this hearing so that we can testify and hear

          9  perspectives on the Mayor's 2030 goal of opening 90%

         10  of our waterways for recreation.

         11                 As you know, the overall goals of the

         12  sustainability effort PlanYC were developed through

         13  the work of the sustainability advisory board.  I am

         14  grateful, and I said this last time, I continue to

         15  be grateful for the fact that you and Speaker Quinn

         16  are members and that you and your staff particularly

         17  have been so active in helping us and, in fact,

         18  getting their own perspectives and perspectives from

         19  hearings like this into our thinking as part of our

         20  outreach effort.  I think it's a great partnership

         21  that we've developed.  I'm pleased also to be joined

         22  today by the Commissioner of Environmental

         23  Protection, Emily Lloyd.  With Emily's leadership

         24  and the strong commitment of her staff, DEP has been

         25  an integral part of our work on PlanYC.  The
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          2  Department has participated in all of the relevant

          3  meetings of the advisory board and all of our

          4  outreach meetings.  Emily herself has shown a real

          5  personal commitment to the process of attending not

          6  only the full advisory board meetings, but several

          7  working group meetings and our community leader

          8  meeting in the Bronx.  I'll leave it to her to

          9  explain the challenge in detail, the causes of water

         10  pollution, and the current issues that we are

         11  working on towards the goal.

         12                 But I'd like to offer some context

         13  for how the goal fits in to the overall

         14  sustainability effort which, as you know, integrates

         15  the three themes of planning for positive growth,

         16  investing responsibly to maintain and improve our

         17  infrastructure, and considering the environment in

         18  all of our decisions.  One of the major shifts in

         19  our City over the last generation has been the

         20  return of New Yorkers to the waterfront.  For much

         21  of the City's history, until the 1960s, most of our

         22  waterfront was a working waterfront, with docks,

         23  warehouses and factories.  As containerization

         24  changed shipping patterns and as manufacturing moved

         25  to lower cost areas, our waterfront become
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          2  increasingly derelict and abandoned.

          3                 Starting really in the 1980s, New

          4  York has recaptured its waterfront, creating parks,

          5  esplanades and housing. Significantly, however, much

          6  of the planning for how we use the waterfront was

          7  done at a time when our waterways, including the

          8  Hudson and the Open Harbor, were terribly polluted.

          9  Even the Hudson River Park, one of the nation's

         10  greatest waterfront parks, isn't really designed to

         11  focus on uses of the water.  This reflects the fact

         12  that it was conceived at a time when the water was

         13  still not clean enough to be usable on a regular

         14  basis.

         15                 Even in places that are safe for

         16  recreational uses, we have created too many

         17  waterfronts that treat the water itself as a scenic

         18  feature, not as a resource to be experienced.  The

         19  Mayor's goal should be seen in that context.

         20  Already today, more than 90% of the surface area of

         21  water in New York is usable for recreation. But the

         22  cleanliness of the water in the middle of the

         23  Harbor, as important as that is intrinsically, is

         24  not as relevant to the day to day experience of New

         25  Yorkers as the water along West Street, in Jamaica
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          2  Bay, in the Gowanus, in Newtown Creek.  We need to

          3  focus on cleaning up those areas, especially the

          4  tributaries that suffer most, because they are not

          5  washed out by tides and currents.  If we can achieve

          6  this goal, we can begin reliably to use our

          7  waterways, not only as a scenic feature, but as an

          8  integral part of our City's recreational activities.

          9    Many New Yorkers don't really think of the City as

         10  the environment.  To many, that's what you have out

         11  in the country.  But if we can make it easier for

         12  New Yorkers to engage with the natural feature that

         13  has shaped our history most, our Great Harbor and

         14  its tributaries, I expect that we can alter the way

         15  New Yorkers think about their City, their

         16  environmental responsibility, and their planet.  And

         17  we will have improved the water, too.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Rit,

         20  I appreciate your statement and your efforts.  I

         21  would also like to point out that we're joined by

         22  Council Member Koppell from the Bronx and a valued

         23  member of this Committee.

         24                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman and members of the Committee, for the
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          2  opportunity to testify on this important and

          3  exciting goal for New York's future and thank you,

          4  Rit, for your introduction.  My name, for the

          5  record, is Emily Lloyd and I am Commissioner of the

          6  Department of Environmental Protection and I'd like

          7  to also take this opportunity to thank you, Mr.

          8  Chairperson, for your long- standing leadership and

          9  partnership, in improving New York City's

         10  environment and working with DEP.

         11                 As Rit mentioned, the Department of

         12  Environmental Protection is a key partner in

         13  PlanYC's goal to open 90% of New York's waterways to

         14  recreation by improving water quality, protecting

         15  our natural areas, and providing access to

         16  waterfronts. This goal is very much in harmony with

         17  existing DEP efforts to clean New York City's

         18  waterways and protect the City's aquatic resources.

         19  By working to improve water quality, we can ensure

         20  that New York's millions of residents and visitors

         21  are able to actively enjoy the City's extensive

         22  natural features, long overshadowed by their

         23  proximity to the City's better- known dramatic

         24  skyline and massive infrastructure.

         25                 Spectacular New York Harbor is
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          2  currently at its cleanest level in 100 years, and

          3  existing projections point to continued improvement.

          4    But not all areas of our Harbor have recovered so

          5  remarkably.  Many tributaries of the Harbor have

          6  characteristics- such as small size and limited

          7  tidal action- that make them resistant to the water

          8  quality improvement strategies that succeed in open

          9  waters.  Human alterations to our tributaries, and

         10  their frequent proximity to large swaths of industry

         11  or brownfields, have drastically effected natural

         12  functions and further degraded these important

         13  waters.  Currently, less than half of New York's

         14  tributaries are suitable for recreation, a

         15  percentage that speaks to the urgency and prescience

         16  of PlanYC's vision for the future.  With New York's

         17  population growing and development increasing city-

         18  wide, the Administration has made improvement of

         19  these waterways one of our most important goals.

         20                 Cleaning New York's tributaries and

         21  ensuring the continued health of the Harbor will

         22  require a comprehensive effort to confront key,

         23  known sources of pollution.  The primary source of

         24  pollution in many of our tributaries is Combined

         25  Sewer Overflows, known as "CSOs."  CSOs are
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          2  responsible for increased pathogens and decreased

          3  levels of Dissolved Oxygen, both key metrics in

          4  sustaining aquatic life, as well as high levels of

          5  floatables, sedimentation and odors, all of which

          6  limit recreational use.

          7                 When First Deputy Commissioner

          8  Lawitts testified before the Committee in October,

          9  he spoke at length about DEP's long- term plan to

         10  control CSOs.  Without repeating Deputy Commissioner

         11  Lawitts' testimony, I want to remind the Committee

         12  that DEP's investments in infrastructure projects

         13  have resulted in enormous improvements in the

         14  quality of New York's waterways.  In 1980, only 30%

         15  of CSOs were captured before entering New York's

         16  waterways.  Today, after significant investments in

         17  infrastructure, DEP captures 70% of CSOs, an

         18  increase that has greatly improved the health of the

         19  Harbor and tributary ecosystems.  While this

         20  achievement is significant and commendable, much

         21  work remains to be done to limit CSOs and ensure

         22  that Mayor Bloomberg's and DEP's goals are met.

         23                 To continue its progress, DEP will

         24  continue to upgrade and build out its

         25  infrastructure.  Two major detention tanks are being
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          2  built in order to limit the flow of CSOs into New

          3  York Harbor.  One, underneath Flushing Meadows Park,

          4  will capture approximately 800 million gallons per

          5  year of CSOs and should be in operation shortly.

          6  The other at Paerdegat Basin in Canarsie, will be

          7  able to detain for processing nearly 1.3 billion

          8  gallons of CSOs per year and is scheduled for

          9  completion in 2011.

         10                 In addition to continuing to work on

         11  detention tanks in Flushing Meadows and Paerdegat

         12  Basin, DEP is also working to upgrade an existing

         13  facility at Spring Creek and plan for additional

         14  facilities, such as the one at English Kills.  This

         15  work will improve system capacity and reduce the

         16  likelihood of CSOs during rain events.  DEP is

         17  performing similar upgrades at several pumping

         18  stations, working to increase pumping capacity and

         19  divert more CSOs away from narrow, industrialized

         20  waterways.  There are over 100 pumping stations in

         21  the City, and routine upgrades will maximize their

         22  ability to deliver stormwater to treatment plants

         23  and keep CSOs away from our waters.

         24                 In many places, these upgrades will

         25  dovetail with other, less costly measures to create
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          2  a more comprehensive CSO mitigation strategy.

          3  Regulator improvements and in-line storage of

          4  combined flow can increase the capacity of our

          5  existing stormwater systems.  In-line storage is the

          6  expansion of combined sewers to hold more water and

          7  creates small underground detention corridors that

          8  reduce the likelihood of CSOs.  In-stream aeration

          9  will improve water quality by oxygenating waters

         10  already impacted by CSOs.

         11                 These current projects are essential

         12  to the long term health of New York's waterbodies.

         13  As the City's population increases, the continued

         14  capacity and functionality of DEP's wastewater

         15  treatment infrastructure will anchor our achievement

         16  of PlanYC's ambitious environmental goals.  The full

         17  infrastructure build-out currently envisioned in

         18  DEP's Long Term Control Plan will increase CSO

         19  capture to 75% and enable and encourage

         20  decentralized, innovative approaches to many of the

         21  remaining water quality issues.

         22                 To increase CSO capture beyond 75%,

         23  DEP is now assessing a wide range of best management

         24  practices, known as BMPs. DEP is aware that capital-

         25  intensive, "end-of-the-pipe" solutions are not the
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          2  only solution to water quality problems.

          3                 The successful implementation of

          4  Staten Island's Bluebelt and stormwater BMPs at the

          5  Kensico Reservoir has encouraged DEP to develop

          6  pilot programs for other BMPs in recent years.  By

          7  working extensively with Staten Island's ecology and

          8  natural habitats, DEP engineers were able to develop

          9  an effective, localized approach to stormwater

         10  control that combined existing wetlands with

         11  innovative, low- impact engineering.  Connecting

         12  natural drainage systems with storm sewers created

         13  an integrated solution that preserves wetlands while

         14  limiting pollution and curbing flooding.  We

         15  consider our Bluebelt program a model of how to

         16  effectively approach best management practices.

         17  Natural constraints prevent the large- scale

         18  replication of Bluebelt systems in other boroughs,

         19  but DEP will employ similar innovative techniques as

         20  we move forward with the creation of a BMP toolset.

         21                 Many pilot projects are in the

         22  process of evaluation and DEP is investigating

         23  specific CSO control technologies in a variety of

         24  city settings.  The BMPs under investigation can be

         25  divided into two categories: Those that target
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          2  stormwater and attempt to minimize CSOs and those

          3  that improve the quality of waters already affected

          4  by CSOs.

          5                 - To reduce stormwater run- off from

          6  city streets, DEP is exploring a range of

          7  technologies, including vegetative swales, porous

          8  pavements and enhanced tree pits. Vegetative swales

          9  and porous pavements increase the absorption

         10  capacity of the existing urban landscape.  Enhanced

         11  tree pit designs detain stormwater while providing

         12  reservoirs of water for the city's many trees. In

         13  many areas of the City increased reliance on

         14  infiltration of stormwater can relieve the pressures

         15  on the sewer system.  Groundwater tables and soil

         16  type are major factors in the application of this

         17  approach and therefore local issues must be studied

         18  carefully.

         19                 - To reduce stormwater run- off from

         20  buildings. DEP is studying open spaces that could be

         21  utilized to naturally absorb stormwaters and limit

         22  polluted discharges into waterways.  DEP has also

         23  been able to obtain commitments from developers for

         24  on- site retention and reuse of stormwater and the

         25  building of high- level storm sewers, both of which
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          2  reduce flow to combined sewers and mitigate CSOs.

          3  DEP is evaluating several BMPs, including green

          4  roofs and rain barrels.  Green roofs absorb rain

          5  water naturally using specifically designed planting

          6  mediums and rain barrels help capture excess

          7  stormwater washing from rooftops.

          8                 - To reduce pathogens and improve

          9  water quality in waterways severely impacted by

         10  CSOs, DEP is studying a number of sustainable,

         11  biological pilots for further evaluation in the

         12  field. The development of sustainable, natural

         13  management techniques for Jamaica Bay will be a

         14  significant and impressive first effort to integrate

         15  major infrastructure upgrades with BMPs to address

         16  environmental issues across jurisdictional

         17  boundaries.

         18                 Decentralized approaches to CSO

         19  control, such as these, collectively ensure

         20  significant reductions in pollution and increases in

         21  the overall health of New York's aquatic resources.

         22  Like Staten Island's Bluebelts, these control

         23  methods integrate natural, sustainable resources

         24  with innovative technologies to produce sustainable

         25  solutions that will last into the future.  They also
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          2  complement the existing landscape and architecture

          3  of New York City and produce many secondary

          4  benefits, including cooler temperatures, more green

          5  spaces, aesthetic enhancement and increased

          6  conservation of energy.

          7                 Though DEP is optimistic about the

          8  promise of integrating BMPs into a more

          9  comprehensive response to the challenges of

         10  improving harbor waters, we are also mindful that

         11  BMPs will ultimately be more successful if they are

         12  properly planned and evaluated for a particular

         13  location.  To do so will require a systematic, city-

         14  wide assessment of several questions:

         15                 - How does the threat of CSOs vary

         16  throughout New York's waterways and how can we best

         17  approach the specific problems of each area?

         18                 - What existing features of New

         19  York's landscape, natural or otherwise, can we

         20  utilize towards the goal of water quality

         21  improvement?

         22                 - And finally, what solutions exist

         23  and how can we implement them in the most

         24  ecologically sound and economical fashion possible?

         25                 These questions will allow DEP to
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          2  carefully assess the potential of each best

          3  management project.  By extensively researching and

          4  developing each project, DEP can set specific CEO

          5  reduction targets while increasing sustainability

          6  and effectiveness.

          7                 Further, we must develop a thoughtful

          8  approach to citywide, systematic and implementation

          9  challenges.  Working with input from the

         10  Sustainability Advisory Board and the already

         11  completed portions of the PlanYC outreach effort,

         12  Deputy Commissioner Angela Licata and her staff are

         13  currently developing recommendations for a

         14  comprehensive BMP approach.  Doing so is, of course,

         15  not simple.  Among the questions we are working on

         16  are:

         17                 - What are the right goals for CSO

         18  reduction that account for New York City's

         19  population growth?  Only if we have such targets for

         20  each watershed can we have the perspective and

         21  flexibility to customize solutions.

         22                 - How do we craft a comprehensive set

         23  of BMPs for each neighborhood and watershed that

         24  accounts for the specific constraints of geography,

         25  zoning districts and property types?
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          2                 - How do we ensure the smooth

          3  implementation of BMPs?  Most BMPs cross traditional

          4  agency lines; effective implementation will require

          5  not only DEP's knowledge and commitment but also

          6  that of the Departments of Buildings, City Planning,

          7  Housing, Sanitation and Transportation as well as

          8  the City Council and other important partners and

          9  stakeholders.  It is likely that the Mayor's office

         10  will play an ongoing coordinating role.

         11                 - What is the right process to work

         12  with community and citizen stakeholders?  Because

         13  BMPs are so localized, feedback from communities

         14  will be key in generating new ideas and ensuring the

         15  successful use and implementation of pilot

         16  technologies.

         17                 DEP is committed to creating a BMP

         18  strategy that will meet our goal and allow 90% of

         19  New York's waters to be available for recreation by

         20  2030.  By curbing CSOs and improving aquatic health,

         21  we can ensure that New York's tremendous natural

         22  resources are available for millions to appreciate

         23  and enjoy. These secondary benefits are especially

         24  critical as New York continues to develop and urban

         25  land becomes increasingly scarce. The creative,
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          2  integrative strategy of DEP's BMP toolset will allow

          3  New York to expand rapidly without compromising

          4  ecological health.

          5                 By avoiding such compromise, BMPs can

          6  contribute to the sustainable future envisioned in

          7  PlanYC.  DEP looks forward to continued work on BMP

          8  strategies and implementation and is certain that

          9  these, combined with a well- maintained, modern

         10  infrastructure, will allow New York to move forward

         11  and achieve the Mayor's goals for 2030.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         14  Commissioner.  I've got some questions, here, but

         15  just kind of a global, overarching question that may

         16  be on the minds of people who are been active on

         17  this issue and are looking at what you and your

         18  folks have done of late and the process that you

         19  have been following to try to increase the quality

         20  of our coastal waters and decrease CSOs and increase

         21  the use of BMPs and that process, of course, is not

         22  a new process.  It's been going on.

         23                 Now we have the sustainability

         24  initiative out there and, I guess, the question is,

         25  how is the interaction between the sustainability
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          2  process and what you folks are doing going to work,

          3  how will that change things, how will that be

          4  different, how is the world different now in terms

          5  of these issues in, sort of like a new era of

          6  sustainability and the Mayor's Office of Long Term

          7  Planning. What's the difference?

          8                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: Well, I think

          9  it's really a dramatic and welcome difference,

         10  because, really for the past twenty years, DEP has

         11  been very focused not solely focused, but very

         12  focused, on catching up with regulatory requirements

         13  which were passed in the 70s and 80s and which

         14  required tremendous investment both in our drinking

         15  water and in our waste water infrastructure.

         16                 I think that there had been for a

         17  long time so much concern about trying to meet those

         18  regulatory goals because so much of our work is done

         19  under either an administrative or judicial order

         20  where we have mandates that we have to meet that it

         21  has been difficult to take a step back and really

         22  have more of a vision about what kind of City we

         23  want to contribute to as the manager of our drinking

         24  water and our waste water.

         25                 I think the sustainability plan, the
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          2  work that's being done on that, has really given us

          3  an opportunity, much as with the legislation that

          4  created the Jamaica Bay planning effort, I think

          5  initially it was a little alarming to us because it

          6  was pulling us, sort of, beyond the mandated, to

          7  some degree, and felt very ambitious to us.  But, I

          8  think, we have felt that with such strong support

          9  and leadership from City Hall and the Council that

         10  we have been able to start to think more broadly and

         11  start to think what we want to do beyond what we've

         12  currently been developing as part of our mandates.

         13                 This has been a very, I think, a very

         14  liberating process for us and I think one that is

         15  going to produce a much more aggressive and

         16  innovative approach to some of the issues facing us.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Thank

         18  you.  Thank you. That's fair enough.  That sounds

         19  good.  Now, getting, going one step beyond that, has

         20  this effort for sustainability influenced the

         21  capital budget that DEP, well, that we heard about

         22  briefly from the Mayor and will be more details on

         23  that, has there already been an influence of the

         24  sustainability process on the long term capital

         25  budget for DEP on things like BMPs or whatever and
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          2  to what degree has sustainability had an impact

          3  already on the City's capital budget which is kind

          4  of like on the street now?

          5                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: Well, as you know

          6  as well or better than anyone, we have an enormous

          7  sustainable project, which is the non- filtration of

          8  the watershed.  The fact that we are able to

          9  maintain the water in a state to drinking water in a

         10  state that allows us not to filter it, not to have

         11  to build an enormous plant, which would then be

         12  expensive and use an enormous amount of energy to

         13  operate is a tremendous plus, I think, in terms of

         14  sustainability.  The water system itself, I can't

         15  help bragging, is very sustainable since it is

         16  gravity driven.  And so, maintaining it in this

         17  state without having to process it further is a real

         18  plus.

         19                 I think that what we are looking for

         20  in the capital budget and, of course, although it's

         21  gone through it's first iteration it is still in the

         22  discussion fazes, is to make sure that the

         23  significant infrastructure investments that still

         24  look to us as though they would have big payoff in

         25  terms of CSOs will be in the capital budget, we will
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          2  be probably recommending some changes in some of the

          3  things we've discussed before but we have also

          4  recommended the inclusion of more BMP types of

          5  projects.  As I said, it's still in discussion so,

          6  even we don't know where the details will end up but

          7  that's the thrust of it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure, but I

          9  would like it to be that one, sort of, of the first

         10  concrete impacts of the sustainability effort would

         11  be more support from the Administration, from on

         12  high, you know, OMB and others, on things that are

         13  needed in order to manifest the Mayor's

         14  sustainability vision.  So, what I'm saying is I'd

         15  like to be able to walk away from the 2008 budget

         16  process knowing that the sustainability effort has

         17  had a profound difference in the capital budget and

         18  that we're looking at a different product than we

         19  otherwise would have if there had been no

         20  sustainability initiative.  Is that what you

         21  envision?

         22                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: Yes, that is what

         23  I envision.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And that will be

         25  your focus, and of course this hearing today is
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          2  about our local, coastal harbor waterways but as

          3  long as you opened the door to the watershed, you

          4  know that I'm pushing fiercely on that front as

          5  well, to take advantage of these next five or ten

          6  years before the land is just out of sight and we

          7  just have to throw up our hands and say like, "we

          8  just can't afford it."  Thank you for bringing that

          9  up.  You probably did that as a favor to me.  I

         10  appreciate that.

         11                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: Happy to do it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh sure, sure.

         13  Okay.

         14                 MR. AGGARWALLE: Could I add something

         15  to that?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, sure.  Okay.

         17    I was just having my next question explained to me

         18  so that I could ask it deftly or with aplomb or

         19  whatever.  You know.

         20                 MR. AGGARWALLE: I think, you know one

         21  of the other things that's important to remember is

         22  that in some places, when we started this process,

         23  we didn't have to start from scratch.  And if we

         24  think about our fourth goal in the plan of

         25  preserving our water supply system by building up,
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          2  building those backup systems, it was not something

          3  we had to explain to DEP that this was necessary, so

          4  at the end of the day, on certain topics, the

          5  problems that we are wrestling with as part of the

          6  plan is how to do one better and as the Commissioner

          7  said, the long term control plan already envisions

          8  getting to 75% and we know that there are a lot of

          9  questions, particularly around implementation of

         10  BMPs that have been the sticking points thus far and

         11  with the kind of attention the Mayor and through my

         12  office City Hall is bringing to this question, we

         13  think that we are exploring and we will find

         14  solutions to break through some of those challenges,

         15  but I think it wouldn't be accurate, it wouldn't be

         16  fair to DEP and many of the other Agencies that

         17  already have lots of aspects of the sustainability

         18  plan already in their plans to think that we were

         19  coming up with this out of nowhere.

         20                 In fact, I think I probably mentioned

         21  at our last hearing a week and a half ago that all

         22  of the work that we've now built on to understand

         23  the impact of climate change on the City of New York

         24  was, in fact, started long before the Sustainability

         25  Office began as a project between Angela's office
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          2  and Columbia University, so I actually, they were

          3  doing 2050 targets, I had to ask them to scale it

          4  back for me and give me a midpoint.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  Council

          6  Member Recchia has a question.  Council Member

          7  Recchia.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes.  Good

          9  Afternoon.  Thank you, Mr. Chairperson, for having

         10  this hearing today.  In your testimony,

         11  Commissioner, you state that in order for these two

         12  detention tanks to work better is that you are

         13  upgrading these pumping stations throughout New York

         14  City.  Correct?

         15                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: Um Hm.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And that if

         17  you upgrade these pumping stations, it will address

         18  the problems that we are having with our waters

         19  today.  Correct?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: It will assist in

         21  reducing the CSOs.  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: In Coney

         23  Island, we have been waiting 20 years for our

         24  pumping station.  I met with your staff in 2002, we

         25  had this whole presentation, we had a plan.  I had
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          2  someone on my staff who worked on this day in and

          3  day out and they started and the agreement was they

          4  would start cleaning out all the sewers in Coney

          5  Island, then they would lay out all the piping that

          6  had to go down and then we would get our new pumping

          7  station.  They cleaned the sewers in 2003.  2007, my

          8  environmental person who was working on this moved

          9  on to another job.  I have not heard anything about

         10  my new pumping station.  It's dead.  The people in

         11  Coney Island can't wait no more.  Now you come here

         12  and say how important the pumping station is.  Well,

         13  if it's so important, why aren't we getting our

         14  pumping station?

         15                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: Well, I hope I'll

         16  be able to get back to you and tell you that you

         17  are, but I have to admit that I don't know where it

         18  is in the capital budget at this point.  So, may I

         19  get back to you on that?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes, because,

         21  you know, DEP came out, we had this whole

         22  presentation, we had a game plan, and year so-and-so

         23  this would be happening and this would happen and

         24  first they had to clean out all the sewers, and if I

         25  didn't stay on top of this, I mean really stay on
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          2  top of this, nothing is going to happen.  And then

          3  we call up and no one can give us an answer where

          4  this project is.  And we come here today, and see,

          5  because we're right in the middle, you know, we're

          6  right before the Paerdegat Basin, you know,

          7  basically, you know, we do have a lot of problems in

          8  Coney Island and with all the major construction

          9  that's about to happen with the, you know, more than

         10  7,000 units of housing that are going to be built,

         11  how is this going to happen, how are the sewers

         12  going to handle all this?

         13                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: Well, I think

         14  that Chairperson Gennaro's question about how are

         15  plan for sustainability is going to be reflected in

         16  the budget indicates that this plan and the emphasis

         17  on CSOs really gives us an opportunity to make some

         18  of these projects a higher priority and get them

         19  moved up in the budget.  I hope that this will be

         20  something, as I said, I'll be able to report back to

         21  you on favorably.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Who should I

         23  contact from your office about this?

         24                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: You can contact

         25  me or you can contact Ann Canty.  She'll write it
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          2  down and give it for you.  But feel free to call my

          3  office, Council Member.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: All right,

          5  because Coney Island is a lot of development and I

          6  keep bringing this up to EDC and saying that, you

          7  know, we've been promising this pumping station, and

          8  we're right in the middle, we're right before

          9  Paerdegat, and I could just see us having problems.

         10                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: I'm familiar with

         11  this conversation, I just don't know where the

         12  project is in the capital budget right now, so let

         13  me get back to you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Thank you.

         15  Thank you, Mr. Gennaro.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         17  Council Member Recchia.  I have already directed

         18  staff as one of the things we look for in the

         19  budget, in the capital budget and I'm a firm

         20  believer that members of the Environmental

         21  Protection Committee should, you know, we should,

         22  gotta figure out how to take care of the members,

         23  get them the projects that they need and that are

         24  important to their districts and this was something

         25  that DEP wants to do, so we should find the money to
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          2  do it.  Thank you, Dominic.

          3                 So, the hearing today is, we're

          4  talking about opening 90% of our waterways for

          5  recreation.  We're just going to want to parse that

          6  out a little bit and so, 90%, I don't want to sound

          7  like a lawyer or anything, which I'm not, but, when

          8  we talk about 90% is that acreage or... What's the

          9  measure?

         10                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: It's acreage.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So if you looked

         12  at a map of New York City waterways and 90% of the

         13   --

         14                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: The acreage of

         15  the surface, the surface of the water.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Surface acreage.

         17    Now, waterways, we've talked about harbors, we've

         18  talked about tributaries, we've talked about, I

         19  guess I'm looking to define waterways.

         20                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: Well, the

         21  waterways would be the harbor, the rivers and the

         22  tributaries that come into the river, we count 17 of

         23  those: Hutchison, Westchester, 2 parts of the Bronx

         24  River, and so on down into Spring Creek, Bergen

         25  Basin, Thurston Basin, so there's 17 tributaries
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          2  that go into either the East River, the Harbor or

          3  the Hudson River.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: This would

          5  include all of Jamaica Bay presumably?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: The tributaries

          7  going into Jamaica Bay, of which there are, I

          8  believe, six or seven.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: How about the

         10  Bay itself?

         11                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: It would not be

         12  considered a tributary but it is part of the area

         13  that's covered that we expect to meet the standard.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So waterways,

         15  it's safe for us to assume, that waterways means

         16  everything.  Okay.  Got that. All right.

         17                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: There are no

         18  little cut out deletions.

         19                 MR. AGGARWALLE: One thing to

         20  emphasize there, the key area where we fall short of

         21  this goal today is in the tributaries.  And you

         22  might want to think about it as kind of a three-

         23  part goal and we've got to meet all of them.  We're

         24  already at 90% if you count what's in the middle of

         25  the harbor.  If you count the shoreline, in terms of
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          2  miles, we're pretty close.  If you count the

          3  tributaries, which are those places that probably

          4  effect the quality of life and those neighborhoods,

          5  the development opportunities in those

          6  neighborhoods, we fall far short.  So, in the way of

          7  our emphasis, we'll be really thinking about the

          8  tributaries and of course, they're also great

          9  bellwethers because they don't get washed out, if

         10  you're going to clean up a tributary, you also have

         11  a very significant impact on whatever it feeds into,

         12  and, as the Commissioner said, Jamaica Bay has

         13  several tributaries.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         15                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: The tributaries

         16  also are more amenable to use than long stretches of

         17  the Hudson or the East River in terms of

         18  recreational use because of the tidal flows.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Fine.  Certainly

         20  an appropriate focus.  I can appreciate that.  When

         21  we talk about recreation there are different

         22  categories for recreation, as like primary contact

         23  that you might get through like swimming or

         24  kayaking, secondary contact maybe that would be

         25  boating or something so when we talk about
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          2  recreation, what category are we talking about, or

          3  does that vary  --

          4                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: The universal

          5  goal that we have is secondary contact, recreation

          6  and fishing, which is sometimes called the Fishing

          7  and Boating Standard.  It means that if you fall in

          8  the water you'll be okay but if not approved for

          9  going in and swimming as a primary reason to be

         10  there.  Some areas will be better than that but

         11  that's the universal level we'd like to reach.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  If the

         13  standard we're going for is the Fishing/Boating

         14  standard, why not shoot for 100 I guess?  It seems

         15   --

         16                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: I think it's

         17  about feasibility and what investment would be

         18  required and how much going after that universally

         19  would add when there's not universal access or

         20  universal appropriateness in terms of location, so,

         21  we're trying obviously, some areas that are

         22  developed as swimming areas, there's a very high

         23  focus on having those be as high as possible but

         24  other areas we think will be primarily for boating

         25  and fishing and the resources would best be used to
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          2  get them to that level.

          3                 MR. AGGARWALLE: While we're talking

          4  about kind of the level of the goal, I think we

          5  continue to apply, as we talked about at the last

          6  hearing, and as we've talked about on many

          7  occasions, the standard of ambitious yet achievable.

          8  Because we did not want to set up a goal that we

          9  were not confident that we could achieve as a

         10  minimum and it's important to think about these

         11  things as floors, not ceilings in that, particularly

         12  with something, just as with global warming where

         13  there are lots of energy saving and renewable energy

         14  technologies where technological change may actually

         15  help us, not just achieve that goal, which we're not

         16  going to count on technology for, but exceed it

         17  then. Similarly here, in many ways in New York City,

         18  BMTs themselves in widespread application are

         19  untested technologies, it's one of the challenges we

         20  face.  It is entirely possible and, I think,

         21  something we all hope for that if we start

         22  implementing these and we can do better, we'll do

         23  better.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: How about some

         25  focus on specifically on swimmable areas, almost
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          2  kind of like a bifurcation where we'll have,

          3  there'll be a real quest for recreation at the

          4  boating and fishing level but kind of like a sub-

          5  set of that but a separate target for swimmable

          6  because, how about that?

          7                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: How about having

          8  that target for certain areas?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, because

         10  certainly we have beaches in the City now and people

         11  know where they are.  They can go to Dominick's or

         12  they can go to Coney Island, they can go to the

         13  Rockaways, James Sanders, they can go to Orchard

         14  Beach in the Bronx, or whatever, that's not ^, but

         15  it's still a nice place. What if the sustainability

         16  effort were to create some kind of push for other

         17  swimming areas other than what we have now?

         18                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: Well, I think

         19  that's really what this part of the process is

         20  about, is trying to hear what's most important to

         21  people in their own neighborhoods.  In some

         22  neighborhoods, I think that has emerged as being

         23  very important and other neighborhoods, you know,

         24  transit has emerged as being incredibly important,

         25  so I think this listening part of the process is
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          2  really about understanding the relative priority as

          3  we start to try to put together a plan that will in

          4  turn drive the allocation of resources, which things

          5  are important to people.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  Because

          7  there are a lot of interesting in recreational uses

          8  of the water that in New York City that people just

          9  like don't know and don't appreciate.  Beach 9th

         10  Street in the Rockaways off James Center, people

         11  come from far and wide to go like scuba diving off

         12  like Beach 9th Street.  How many people here knew

         13  that?  See.  Okay.  Two.  Okay.  It's interesting

         14  having New York City, Beach 9th Street to be a scuba

         15  diving destination, you know, who needs the

         16  Caribbean?  Council Member Koppell has a question.

         17  Council Member Koppell.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I guess I

         19  realize that there's kind of this new sustainability

         20  initiative, however, it's somewhat surprising to

         21  read your statement, Commissioner, and just read all

         22  these questions on pages three and four that need to

         23  be answered.  What I mean by surprising is not that

         24  they're not good questions but it's kind of

         25  surprising that we don't have answers, I mean, we
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          2  didn't just land here from the moon.  We've been

          3  working on these projects for years, so, I'm

          4  wondering, is there a target date when these

          5  questions will have answers?  Do you have a target

          6  date?  Could we say you'll be back September 1st and

          7  give us answers to all of these of some of these?

          8  What's the plan?

          9                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: I'm going to ask

         10  Deputy Commissioner Angela Licata, who's Deputy

         11  Commissioner of Environmental Planning and

         12  Assessment.  Much of this work is under way and she

         13  can respond.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: I'd be

         15  pleased to try to clarify that a little bit more

         16  today.  We are, in fact, more than midway into, sort

         17  of, a very detailed assessment of how New York City

         18  could be made and could sort of apply these various

         19  principals associated with best management practices

         20  to the various land uses within the City of New

         21  York.  This analysis will very soon tell us what

         22  applications will work best on what type of land

         23  uses.  In fact, we've broken the City down into,

         24  say, six or seven prototypical land uses:

         25  Residential, medium and high density residential,
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          2  commercial, big box retail type surface areas,

          3  parking lot applications and once we have this

          4  information, we talk about what kinds of these, I'm

          5  calling them BMPs but they're really storm water

          6  controls, they're really called on site or source

          7  controls can apply and what is the range of those,

          8  the intensity, how much storm water can you get and

          9  what is the cost of the application.  Then the very

         10  next step we'll see, how do we penetrate the

         11  environment with these.  Do we apply these to new

         12  development only, do we apply these to public sites

         13  only, do we apply a mix of these types of ideas on

         14  both new applications and maybe substantial

         15  retrofits in the environment in new substantial

         16  development on an old lot and that sort of thing.

         17  Once we have that understanding, then we will be

         18  able to determine the volume reduction and then,

         19  ultimately, the pollutant removal benefit that we

         20  get from the volume reduction in CSOs.  And that

         21  analysis we had slated to be completed this Summer

         22  so we can certainly be back in September to discuss

         23  a little bit more about the overall effectiveness of

         24  BMPs in New York City.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, you say
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          2  maybe by September you'll have an answer to many of

          3  these questions?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: Um Hm.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: In some of

          6  the questions may suggest legislation or new

          7  regulations, for instance, you mention green roofs.

          8  That happens to be an interest of mine.  I think we

          9  should have an incentive program for builders, for

         10  developers, to put in green roofs, a financial

         11  incentive, a tax incentive program. That's something

         12  that could be proposed.  I mean, I've proposed it

         13  but the City could propose it.  Similarly, there are

         14  other things that can be done both in terms of

         15  regulations or laws as well as budget allocations,

         16  right, so these questions should have answers and

         17  then we should have proposals that emanate from

         18  those answers, right?  So you say we'll have answers

         19  to many of these questions by September?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LICATA: We will

         21  have a technical understanding of the applications,

         22  the costs of these applications, the way that they

         23  could penetrate our environment, the timetable

         24  associated with the penetration and the ultimate

         25  effect in terms of storm water volume reduction.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So the goal

          3  is the 90% goal by 2030?  That's the goal that's

          4  stated in your and that, so we have 23 years to

          5  reach that goal but in order to reach that goal in

          6  23 years we have to have a plan.  When do you think

          7  we'll have the plan?

          8                 MR. AGGARWALLE: Council Member, I

          9  think, let me clarify something here.  Meeting this

         10  goal is the task of the Overall Sustainability Plan

         11  and the Mayor has committed that sometime the end of

         12  next month, we are going to come out with our

         13  proposals for how to meet these goals.  Some of

         14  them, of course, the detailed implementation of what

         15  goes into what neighborhood is not going to be

         16  envisioned as part of this plan as we've said on

         17  many occasions about the sustainability plan, about

         18  PlanYC.  Our goal is not to do the kind of block-

         19  by- block plan that was done in the Lindsay

         20  Administration but rather, to put in place the

         21  institutions, the regulations and legislations as

         22  you described that will facilitate things, that will

         23  break through the things that have kept us from

         24  meeting these goals as a City.

         25                 So, in fact, next month we are going
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          2  to come out with the overall plan.  I think what the

          3  Deputy Commissioner is talking about is part of the

          4  implementation of that plan, because you have to

          5  have answers to some of these questions on a very

          6  detailed level before you start putting things in

          7  the ground but that doesn't mean an overarching

          8  policy framework or series of legislative decisions

          9  can't be made in advance and I point out that green

         10  roofs, I agree, are something that we are all not

         11  just as part of this goals work but in fact for

         12  their energy saving benefits, as part of an overall

         13  strategy to adapt to what are inevitably going to be

         14  higher temperatures due to climate change and, in

         15  fact, as a part of open space and thinking about

         16  where people recreate whether it's designated parks

         17  or other green spaces, green roofs have a lot of

         18  benefits and we are, in fact, thinking not just with

         19  DEP but across all of the agencies that are part of

         20  the team working on the long term plan about issues

         21  such as those.

         22                 So I think it's important to

         23  separate, we're going to have the sustainability

         24  plan, there are going to be lots of things that have

         25  to be done over the next 23 years and the water
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          2  protection details and how you implement the package

          3  of BMPs in specific locations we certainly won't

          4  have in March, we'll have that in September, but I

          5  think some of the decisions you're talking about

          6  we're certainly rushing to come to grips with and

          7  this kind of hearing, the other outreach meetings

          8  that we're doing are all part of getting educated on

          9  that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I think

         11  it is useful to have targets for plans and for

         12  implementation.  I don't have any quarrel with, you

         13  know, having different targets for different aspects

         14  of what you're trying to get at.  So, next month we

         15  can expect to see an overall sustainability plan.

         16  And then, by September we're going to see some of

         17  the details are called for by the questions raised

         18  by the Commissioner's paper here, or presentation,

         19  right?  And, Mr. Chairperson, I hope that we will

         20  then, when we see those then perhaps schedule a

         21  further hearing to evaluate those things.  And also,

         22  not only for us to evaluate but also for the public

         23  to come back and evaluate.

         24                 But we now have two dates: We have

         25  March of 2007 and September of 2007 as dates we'll

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  be looking for.  So, thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you

          4  Council Member Koppell.  I appreciate that.

          5  Certainly, by all means, I'm with you.  Council

          6  Member Recchia.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I have some

          8  more questions. Talk about your tributaries and how,

          9  when you say in your plans will be different than

         10  the Lindsey Administration plan is that you're going

         11  to do the legislation so that we can move forward in

         12  the future and see where we want to implement these

         13  plans.  Is that correct?  That you're not going to

         14  do a block- by- block?

         15                 MR. AGGARWALLE: No, in the sense, if

         16  you think about the last time New York City did a

         17  long term strategic plan of any type, really, it was

         18  the 1969 plan the Lyndsey Administration put

         19  forward, it was this five volume behemoth that, in

         20  fact, not producing much in the way of significant

         21  results because it was done in a back room, it was

         22  issued as a very detailed decision. Our goal here is

         23  not to do that.  In part, we issued goals, we issued

         24  a challenge to New York to talk about how we as a

         25  community can achieve these goals and what some of
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          2  the trade- offs have to be, and what trade- offs

          3  we're willing to make, not as an administration, not

          4  as a City government but as a community of 8.2 going

          5  on 9.1 million.

          6                 In some cases the challenges are

          7  strategic.  How do we pay for the transit capacity

          8  increases that we know we need to prevent gridlock

          9  on our streets and our subways and our sidewalks?

         10  How do we think about long term fixes to housing

         11  affordability. These are strategic questions in many

         12  ways.

         13                 In some cases, the challenges are far

         14  more about Administration and about how you actually

         15  make things happen when there's relatively

         16  widespread consensus about what the answer is. And

         17  that's part of what, in some cases that's what this

         18  is.  The list of what the BMPs are is relatively

         19  well known.  The list of what tributaries are

         20  polluted, we know.

         21                 So, it's a question of putting in

         22  place the organization, putting in place the

         23  funding, putting in place the legislation and then

         24  having the punchlist of how we're going to do what

         25  where.  But I would argue that that last part is the
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          2  implementation plan itself, that's what will happen

          3  in September we expect, whereas the overarching

          4  framework is the sustainability plan itself.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, before

          6  September I would like to meet with you because I

          7  represent large bodies of different parts of creeks,

          8  Gravesend Bay, there are certain parts, you know,

          9  one part on the other side of Seagate which now has

         10  beaches, they never had beaches before, because of

         11  the t-groins (phonetic) that were built by the Army

         12  Corps of Engineers and, you know, this one part that

         13  I'm thinking about is like by Kaiser Park, I don't

         14  know if you're familiar with that part, it comes off

         15  of Gravesend Bay and, you know, I see people fishing

         16  off of there all the time and if you're going to

         17  have some kind of plan in the future or put in

         18  place, certain criteria, some legislation, I want to

         19  make sure that this is all well- addressed,

         20  including part of it, these whole areas.  As you're

         21  going forward with this and talking about this, no

         22  one from DEP has ever contacted me and said, "You

         23  know, we'd like to come talk to you about this."  I

         24  think that's important that you should reach out to

         25  those Council Members that really represent the
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          2  large bodies of water, because we're the ones that

          3  are really working hard, we spend endless time, with

          4  Coney Island Creek, with the sale of Keyspan, I'm

          5  sure you're aware of all that. When you put the

          6  sustainability plan all together, we want to be part

          7  of it, so that we can have our input, make sure that

          8  maybe we can address some of the problems that we're

          9  facing.

         10                 MR. AGGARWALLE: I'd be eager to

         11  arrange a meeting with you and your staff to talk

         12  about this.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         15  Council Member Recchia.  And also one of the reasons

         16  I chose to have individual hearings on each of the

         17  points, to get the people from the Committee

         18  engaged, other members, we had a member who is not a

         19  member of this Committee who came to the last

         20  hearing who got a lot out of it and got plugged into

         21  the process.  I know that written his folks and

         22  briefing the various delegations of the Councils so,

         23  we're grateful for the opportunity for the Council

         24  Members to get involved and to make a case.

         25                 MR. AGGARWALLE: I want to thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chairman. I greatly appreciate it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes.  I just

          4  have a couple more questions.  I know that, Emily,

          5  you have a time commitment, a meeting and I don't

          6  want to keep you here longer than you need to be.

          7  In your testimony, you talked a lot about the CSO

          8  issue. Certainly that's a huge issue with regard to

          9  water quality and should be front and center.  But

         10  I'm asking about other water quality issues that we

         11  face, such as nitrogen and others that didn't get as

         12  much coverage in your statement and if you could

         13  speak to some of those other issues, I'd appreciate

         14  that.

         15                 COMMISSIONER LLOYD: As you know, the

         16  nitrogen is a focal point of the upgrade plans of

         17  our wastewater treatment plants.  In Jamaica Bay, we

         18  have recently submitted a draft plan to DEC and have

         19  made some proposals there.  That is going to be in

         20  conversation with them as our plans always are for

         21  quite some time. I know that there is a lot of

         22  interest in seeing the nitrogen level in Jamaica Bay

         23  addressed, possibly more innovatively than just

         24  through a treatment plant solution.  We are

         25  certainly open to looking at that.  You know,
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          2  Jamaica Bay is very complicated because of the areas

          3  that were excavated, the borrow (phonetic) pits

          4  there in Grassy Bay and that makes it very difficult

          5  in terms of addressing some of the water quality

          6  issues, but we certainly have an open mind about

          7  this, we're very, as is the case with all of these

          8  things, we're very concerned about spending our

          9  resources prudently, because we have a very vast

         10  agenda in terms of what we need to do but we also

         11  are very committed to the future of Jamaica Bay, so,

         12  we are still open to talking about that.

         13                 We are trying to move towards some

         14  kind of agreement with DEC about what the minimum

         15  requirements will be for us and our lawyers always,

         16  with which I concur, want to keep those commitments

         17  as pragmatic as possible, but it doesn't mean that

         18  we're not open to an ongoing conversation about what

         19  we can do to improve the aquatic life as well as the

         20  recreational uses in the bay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, thank

         22  you.  And to what extent have you reached out to

         23  organizations and other entities that are not on the

         24  advisory board regarding the goal that we're looking

         25  at today?
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          2                 MR. AGGARWALLE: As part of the

          3  overall effort, we've had meetings and, I don't have

          4  a breakdown off the top of my head of what's been

          5  water related and what hasn't, but we've had

          6  meetings with well over 100 advocacy groups of

          7  different types, as you know because you were at our

          8  event in Queens, we've had meetings of community

          9  leaders in each Borough and, in fact, I think the

         10  dates are now up on our website, for the open to the

         11  public town hall meetings that we're having in each

         12  Borough. So, I'm optimistic  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Was there a

         14  specific outreach just on this goal or, you know,

         15  groups that had a lot to add on the particular goal

         16  that we're focusing on?

         17                 MR. AGGARWALLE: We've met with a wide

         18  variety of groups, in fact, I see many familiar

         19  faces in this room from some of those meetings.  We

         20  had several themed conversations where we were

         21  talking about water quality, we were talking about

         22  different aspects of the environment so, I think

         23  it's been fairly thorough. And then, of course,

         24  we're going to be looking at all the testimony

         25  that's presented here today and, you know, work with
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          2  you and your staff to get the input from other

          3  people here.  This is all part of one effort.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And so it goes,

          5  and so it goes. I guess I have more of a comment or

          6  statement or whatever in that, certainly we're doing

          7  the sustainability thing, we got the Mayor all

          8  cranked up, he's great on this and we got the

          9  advocates plugged in, we've got, this is like the

         10  brass ring.

         11                 I've been chair of this Committee for

         12  five years and I'm going around the City saying,

         13   "Environmental issues, environmental issues" and

         14  people are like, yeah, cops, education, what

         15  environment, whatever.  And so, everyone tries to be

         16  like the bandleader for their thing, you know.

         17                 And the Mayor is so far out in front

         18  on this thing, we've got Rit in place, we got, like,

         19  the planets are in alignment, and I guess I'm just

         20  looking to have, like, very aspirational goals that

         21  we can translate like right into the budget like

         22  right this year, which is why I'm pushing for more

         23  watershed land, which is off the topic of today, not

         24  only boating and fishing but swimming to push that a

         25  little bit because in order to go to the folks at
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          2  OMB, and I used to work there so I know what they're

          3  like, because I was one of them once upon a time,

          4  this is how we -  you've gotta kind of reach for the

          5  brass ring, you know, we don't want to be kind of

          6  like you get what you get but if you don't reach for

          7  the brass ring, you certainly ain't gettin' it [sic]

          8  And so this is why we're trying to push the envelope

          9  and we'll continue to do so on all of the things

         10  that are part of sustainability because now's the

         11  time.  We've got Mike Bloomberg, we got you guys, we

         12  got me, we got them and I don't know if we're gettin

         13  the planets in this kind of alignment between now

         14  and 2030, you know, so that's my little pep talk,

         15  you know, on that.  You can comment if you want, you

         16  know.

         17                 MR. AGGARWALLE: I think you've said

         18  it all.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. All right.

         20    Thank you so much.  Whoops.  Oh, wait.  We have

         21  Council Member Tom White who has joined us, who has

         22  a question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Mr. Chairman,

         24  unfortunately, I have two meetings at the same time,

         25  then the Commissioner came out from the Veterans
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          2  meeting, just came to the office and wants to see

          3  me, so with your permission, and my apologies to the

          4  Commissioner, I have to leave and I want to stay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Tom, it's a

          6  pleasure to have you, you always follow up with me

          7  after the hearings and we certainly appreciate you

          8  being here and I got your back.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay.  Thank

         10  you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  So, thank

         12  you very much Rit, Emily, Angela, appreciate you

         13  having being here.  Who is going to stay behind to

         14  hear the testimony?  Okay.  Great.  Thank you. Thank

         15  you.

         16                 Okay.  The next part of the hearing

         17  we're going to kind of like the first panel we're

         18  going to put people in panels, because of the volume

         19  of people who wish to speak, we're going to put the

         20  clock out.  Ordinarily the clock is three minutes

         21  but we're going to go to five minutes just because,

         22  you know, five minutes, I think, is a minimum

         23  someone should have to be able to speak and then the

         24  panel will give the testimony and then we'll wait

         25  until the last person has testified on the panel
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          2  before we commence questions.

          3                 And the first panel Rob Pirani of

          4  RPA, Brad Sewell of NRDC, Basil Seggos of

          5  Riverkeeper will be the first panel.  Is Brad here?

          6  Okay.  I would like to thank all of you gentlemen

          7  for being here today.  I am really grateful to have

          8  you here.  Donna DeCostanzo will give the oath and

          9  then each of you, in turn, can proceed with your

         10  statement, I guess you might as well use the

         11  sequence of the names that I called out.  We'll do

         12  Rob, then Brad, then Basil.  Before you start your

         13  statement, just state you name for the record.

         14  Donna.

         15                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         16  raise your right hands.  In the testimony that

         17  you're about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell

         18  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         19  truth?

         20                 MR. PIRANI: I do.

         21                 MR. SEWELL: I do.

         22                 MR. SEGGOS: I do.

         23                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         24                 MR. PIRANI: Well, let me start out by

         25  thanking you, Chairperson and your staff, for
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          2  holding this important hearing today.  My name is

          3  Rob Pirani.  I am the Director of Environmental

          4  Programs for Regional Plan Association.  I'd also

          5  note that I'm the co- chair of the Wetlands Transfer

          6  Task Force, which thanks to the Chairperson, putting

          7  through Local Law 83, has been working for the last

          8  year to look at City owned wetlands and how they

          9  might be transferred to the Parks Department.  So

         10  again, thank you for your leadership on that and on

         11  all matters.

         12                 RPA is also proud to be a member of

         13  the Mayor's Sustainability Advisory Board.  We

         14  commend the Mayor and Deputy Mayor for going forward

         15  with what is truly a remarkable agenda.  We look

         16  forward to working with them, the Council, the rest

         17  of the community on making sure that that plan moves

         18  from, as you folks have been discussing, from lofty

         19  goals to concrete actions.

         20                 The 2030 plan sets out a goal of

         21  opening more miles of waterways for recreation by

         22  cleaning the waters and preserving natural areas.  I

         23  want to focus on the latter part of that statement.

         24  As part of my testimony, I've submitted a map that

         25  shows graphically how the more than 100 square miles
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          2  of wetlands that once existed in the Harbor estuary

          3  have now been reduced to about 14 square miles.  And

          4  while we can never re- create that system, we can

          5  certainly do our best to replicate the structure and

          6  the function of those wetlands in both cleaning

          7  water and in protecting and nurturing fish and

          8  wildlife in here in the Harbor.              To do

          9  so, we believe the 2030 plan needs to pursue a three

         10  part strategy to:

         11                 1. To protect those large

         12  irreplaceable wetlands that remain, starting with

         13  Arlington Marsh;

         14                 2. To ensure that future development

         15  does not impact the hundreds of smaller wetlands

         16  still located throughout the City by developing a

         17  comprehensive wetlands policy;

         18                 3. By managing storm water and

         19  protecting our waterfronts by restoring the

         20  hydrologic functions of watersheds, streams and

         21  natural shorelines.

         22  Let me talk about those very briefly in turn.

         23                 First of all, protecting the large,

         24  irreplaceable wetlands:  Chairperson Gennaro, your

         25  colleague Councilperson McMahon I think have been
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          2  truly great leaders in pushing the administration on

          3  trying to protect Arlington Marsh, perhaps the last,

          4  best unprotected wetland that still remains in the

          5  shoreline. And you'll note on the map, you can still

          6  kind of see where Arlington was actually there in

          7  about 1800, one of the few places that still

          8  remains.  We believe, as do I think a bunch of

          9  people in this room, that Arlington Marsh should be

         10  transferred to the Parks Department from the

         11  Economic Development Corporation and that if, in

         12  fact, that Park status would ensure kind of a high

         13  hurdle so that, if in fact, port uses are needed in

         14  the future the extra process of going through Park

         15  alienation will, in fact, ensure that a subsequent

         16  Administration and a subsequent Council, or maybe

         17  still the same Council, or I guess it will be

         18  subsequent, will in fact, have to take a hard look

         19  at that.

         20                 My second point was looking at future

         21  development and looking at especially the smaller

         22  wetlands.  Again, I'd like to note my support for

         23  initiative from your office, Intro 506, a proposed

         24  legislation to create a comprehensive wetlands

         25  protection policy for New York City.  As folks know,
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          2  the City's current waterfront policies and wetland

          3  policies are somewhat limited in scope and the City

          4  relies very heavily on State and Federal Wetland

          5  regulations to protect the wetlands within its

          6  borders, both publicly owned and privately owned.

          7  Many, many municipalities within the New York

          8  Metropolitan area, in fact, have enacted specific

          9  legislation, specific regulations to afford their

         10  administrations the opportunity to review wetlands,

         11  proposed filling of wetlands directly, not rely on

         12  other levels of government.

         13                 We also, we appreciate the fact that

         14  Intro 506 would enable, would direct the

         15  Environmental Protection Commissioner and the Parks

         16  Commissioner to look at a comprehensive wetland

         17  policy that would examine that question and see

         18  whether, how and if such protection could be

         19  afforded to smaller wetlands.

         20                 We'd also, are particularly

         21  appreciative that the legislation directs the City

         22  to address the management of many of these smaller

         23  wetlands, something that is difficult, as we've

         24  found through the Wetlands Task Force, for the Parks

         25  Commissioner to take on.  We would call on the

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  City's 2030 plan and the Sustainability Office

          3  within the Mayor's Office to support this initiative

          4  as part of the 2030 goal.

          5                 Third, the third, sort of, item is

          6  the idea of managing stormwater and protecting our

          7  waterfronts and, obviously, you've had a long and

          8  very detailed conversation about stormwater

          9  management.  I would just echo a lot of the

         10  sentiments expressed both by the questions that were

         11  raised as well as the sentiment expressed by the

         12  council in terms of trying to push forward on those

         13  best management practices and replicating the

         14  success of the Bluebelt program in watersheds

         15  throughout the City.

         16                 I'd also, perhaps, suggest another

         17  avenue and that would be to look at the idea of

         18  pilot programs on the City's shoreline directly.

         19  Metropolitan Waterfront Alliance in connection with

         20  the Department of State, the State Department of

         21  State, and the Parks Commission have embarked on a

         22  pilot program in East Harlem waterfront looking at

         23  innovative ways that can both protect shoreline and

         24  enhance habitat values and, if you will,  what we

         25  should be looking at to do is sort of taking a hard
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          2  look at current policies and practices for shoreline

          3  protection, be they bulkheads, rip wrap, relieving

          4  platforms, piers and jettys and think about ways of

          5  making them more environmentally friendly.  I think

          6  there's a lot of great design, a lot of great

          7  technology that would enable the City to do so and

          8  the 2030 plan should encourage that.

          9                 Thank you very much for your interest

         10  and again for this opportunity to testify.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Rob.

         12  Brad.

         13                 MR. SEWELL: Good afternoon,

         14  Chairperson Gennaro and the rest of the Committee.

         15  I thank you for allowing NRDC the opportunity to

         16  present testimony today.  We're going to focus our

         17  testimony on some specific concerns that have come

         18  up in our review of some suggested components of the

         19  plan as they've been suggested in various meetings,

         20  including working group meetings during the plan's

         21  development to date.  I'm going to start this with

         22  addressing, specifically, the goal, this 90% for

         23  recreation goal.

         24                 You know, from NRDC's perspective,

         25  although this sort of goal has some advantages in
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          2  terms of public messaging, I think, we would like to

          3  see if this hasn't already occurred, some movement

          4  away from this sort of alternative universe for

          5  improving of water quality and really, in terms of

          6  the plan itself, to build it around striving to

          7  achieve existing designated uses and their numeric

          8  water quality criteria.

          9                 So moving back into the language we

         10  understand, that has well understood meanings and

         11  specific application and really is comprehensive in

         12  its approach to the various uses of the various

         13  waters, you've got primary contact recreation,

         14  secondary contact recreation and primary contact

         15  recreation takes into account ecological values such

         16  as you have in Jamaica Bay.  You know, it's a

         17  comprehensive relatively nuanced system that isn't

         18  captured by this 90% for recreation goal.

         19                 Just to expound on this a little bit,

         20  and this has been brought up already, this secondary

         21  contact and primary contact recreation difference,

         22  to simply protect secondary contact recreation is

         23  not in and of itself going to do anything about the

         24  primary contact recreation waters that are, in fact,

         25  not achieving that status today.  What is the plan
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          2  going to do concerning waterbodies like Jamaica Bay

          3  that don't achieve their primary contact recreation,

          4  they don't achieve their water quality standards

          5  today.  How is the plan going to address getting

          6  those current designated uses up to snuff, so to

          7  speak, as we move forward?

          8                 And then, something like beach

          9  standards.  There is a whole separate set of

         10  standards that apply to beaches from the public,

         11  from the Health Department, from EPA.  How does that

         12  fit into this 90% for recreation goal?  Obviously we

         13  want our beaches to meet these quite important and

         14  stringent bacterial standards. So, I guess, just to

         15  repeat where I started, the plan itself should

         16  really be built around striving to achieve existing

         17  designated uses at the very least, and also try to

         18  get new waterbodies designated for higher uses as we

         19  move forward.  And then, obviously, achieve the

         20  corresponding numeric water quality standards.

         21                 A second point about the goal is, I

         22  think it's important to actually have it explicitly

         23  incorporate the concept of ecologic function, in

         24  that that isn't sufficiently encompassed in the term

         25  recreation unless you read a lot into it, so there
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          2  should be not simply a discussion of the importance

          3  of restoring ecologic function to the waterways, as

          4  I'm sure there will be in the plan, but actually

          5  have it in the goal itself, that that's important

          6  for long term sustainability in use of our

          7  waterways.  You don't simply want to put your

          8  fishing line in the water, you want to be able to

          9  catch something.

         10                 So now, turning to how the plan's

         11  water quality goals will be achieved.  It's our

         12  understanding based on these meetings that the

         13  centerpiece, and we've heard a little bit about this

         14  today, the centerpiece of the plan is going to be

         15  the development of a comprehensive BMPs plan and

         16  we've said this to representatives from the Mayor's

         17  Office that it's going to important and the plan

         18  itself, when it comes out in a month, that there be

         19  some specific deliverables for what this process is

         20  going to achieve, because you've injected this huge

         21  layer of uncertainty into the process because it's a

         22  plan for a plan, so, the plan that comes out in a

         23  month needs to have some deliverables so that when

         24  some of this momentum is lost, we have some concrete

         25  guidelines as to what the process is going to
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          2  deliver and in our written testimony we've suggested

          3  the nature of some of those deliverables.

          4                 And I guess, in addition to those

          5  deliverables, there is another process going on

          6  concerning BMPs and that's the Long Term Control

          7  Plan for CSO abatement.  There's going to be a BMP

          8  development piece of that, and then we have this

          9  apparent parallel development of BMPs.  They should

         10  be integrated together for efficiency's sake but

         11  also as a means of adding additional layers of

         12  safeguards, accountability, transparency to the

         13  process. There's no reason that they should be on

         14  parallel as opposed to the same track.

         15                 Also, when this plan comes out in

         16  March, there should be at the least a narrative

         17  performance standard that applies immediately to

         18  City projects.  Maybe there's some technical

         19  complexity that needs to be worked through to come

         20  up with a more comprehensive set of BMPs, but in

         21  terms of a narrative performance standard, there

         22  should be something like that immediately and really

         23  could apply immediately.

         24                 I've already mentioned Jamaica Bay,

         25  but just one last sentence on that.  And that's
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          2  nitrogen.  We need to do something about nitrogen.

          3  It needs to be part of the plan.  It's, aside from

          4  CSOs, it's a big outstanding water quality problem

          5  for the City's water, so we hope that gets

          6  integrated into the plan.

          7                 Thanks a lot.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Brad.

          9    Basil.  Do you have a statement, Basil?

         10                 MR. SEGGOS: I do, actually, but I'll

         11  talk about in one second.  Mike Plumb will actually

         12  be submitting the formal testimony on my behalf.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's fine.

         14  Okay.

         15                 MR. SEGGOS: I just want to make four

         16  quick points. Thank you very much for allowing me to

         17  speak, Mr. Chairperson. Basil Seggos, Chief

         18  Investigator, Riverkeeper, we're focused on the

         19  Harbor and the Hudson.  We're also, along with NRDC,

         20  a part of a new coalition that sprung up around the

         21  idea of the importance of a swimmable Harbor, for

         22  the neighborhoods that surround it and the way that

         23  we think that's going to happen, obviously, is

         24  through source control, a combination of source

         25  control and of pipe.  There will be other members
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          2  talking about the swim coalition later.

          3                 I just want to make four quick

          4  points.  I want to echo what Brad said, that the

          5  goal here, I actually find the goal here,

          6  Riverkeeper actually finds the goal of 90%

          7  recreational as being decidedly not ambitious.  That

          8  ambitious is compliance with existing water quality

          9  standards.  Ambitious is compliance with 85% CSO

         10  capture, not 75%.

         11                 Point number two, source control,

         12  must be built into the Long Term Control Plan

         13  planning process in a meaningful way. We understand

         14  that BMPs and source control will be incorporated

         15  into something that's going to be submitted in June.

         16    The sense that most of have at this stage is that

         17  the DEP will not be affording it the attention it

         18  deserves in comparison to what is being committed to

         19  end of pipe.  We understand, just listening to

         20  today's conversation, and from prior conversations,

         21  that we'll be seeing more of source control, more of

         22  this analysis of BMPs, within the year, by the

         23  Summer and late Fall but the Long Term Control Plan

         24  has its own important benchmarks coming up.  Very

         25  important that if the DEP does not come forward with
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          2  a very ambitious goal on source controls in their

          3  June submission that the State should reject it.

          4  The State should send the plan back to the DEP and

          5  force them to incorporate source controls in a

          6  meaningful way.

          7                 All agencies need to be brought to

          8  the table.  I think that's what the Mayor can do.

          9  Obviously, I think the Mayor gets it, clearly Rit

         10  gets it, I think Emily Lloyd gets it.  We have a

         11  collection of individuals in State and City

         12  government at this stage that understand the

         13  importance of source control.  They need to be

         14  brought to the table at the same time and this is

         15  not, keep in mind here, one of the legal mechanisms

         16  that's driving all of this is a consent order with

         17  the State of New York and the party to the consent

         18  order, the first part of the consent order is the

         19  City of New York, not just the DEP, so that

         20  acknowledges in a sense that there are many agencies

         21  that need to be a part of this solution.

         22                 My last point, and I'll just give my

         23  time to the others here, is that we know that source

         24  control works.  We don't know it works in New York

         25  City because it's never been actively applied here
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          2  in an aggressive way.  But it works elsewhere and we

          3  had great testimony back in October from Franca

          4  Montalto, NRDC's done a great report on rooftops to

          5  rivers, a fantastic explanation of where it's worked

          6  elsewhere.  It can work here and it can be done in

          7  such a way so as to improve water quality, help us

          8  achieve water quality standards, and achieve these

          9  85% CSO capture goals that are required by law.

         10                 So, we look forward to working with

         11  your staff from here on in and Mike Plumb from the

         12  Columbia Law Clinic will be addressing some of the

         13  other aspects of our testimony.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         16  Basil.  I appreciate your being here.  I just want

         17  to speak to some of the  --  I'll go in order.

         18                 Rob, I just want to thank you for all

         19  your work on the Wetlands Task Force and your

         20  support of 506 and, as you know, we're having a

         21  hearing on that on the 26th and you're all invited.

         22  We look forward to working with you on that.  I'm

         23  just looking for, I made some notes on your

         24  statement.  I, like you, Rob, am concerned that

         25  there's sort of like the parallel universe of the
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          2  whole sustainability initiative and how does that

          3  sort of dovetail and Brad was getting into some of

          4  the same stuff.  How to have the sufficient amount

          5  of detail to really have, to really use this

          6  opportunity for everything that it can be.  I share

          7  your concern in that regard and Brad, too, you made

          8  a lot of the same kind of thrust in your statement

          9  that it's important to have some detail in this,

         10  have some real tight deliverables that we can wire,

         11  like, right into the budget process and get this

         12  going.

         13                 Now, Brad, you're not having any

         14  difficulty to Rit and those guys, right, if you want

         15  to meet with them, that hasn't been an issue for

         16  you, right?

         17                 MR. SEWELL: No, they've really been

         18  astonishingly accessible and, you know, we're really

         19  very appreciative of that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, and that's

         21  been my experience, too, and some of the feedback

         22  that I've been getting. Anybody whose here certainly

         23  should avail yourself of reaching out to the

         24  sustainability people and making sure that you get

         25  your two cents in because it's critically important
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          2  that we have that.

          3                 And Brad, I want to thank you for all

          4  of your work on Jamaica Bay and serving on that

          5  Advisory Committee to the watershed plan on Jamaica

          6  Bay and we look forward to working with you on that

          7  and Basil, I guess the good news is that we're

          8  hearing a lot about BMPs, hearing a lot about source

          9  control.  We just have to figure out a way to use

         10  this sustainability effort to kind of muffle this up

         11  to the point where we're getting some serious stuff

         12  in the budgets and some serious focus by the DEP,

         13  who, of course, are overwhelmed by so many things

         14  and, hopefully you're getting access to Rit and his

         15  people and your making your case to them, right?  Is

         16  that the case?  You have to talk into the

         17  microphone.

         18                 MR. SEGGOS:  We are getting access.

         19  We served on one of the work groups on the

         20  environment and the human health workgroups so we're

         21  able to access the people who are making these

         22  decisions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Super.  Super.

         24  Okay.  We'll all keep plugging along, all keep

         25  making our case.  We'll be able to do good things.
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          2  Guys, thanks very much.  Appreciate your input.

          3  Appreciate your being here.  Carter Craft of the

          4  Metropolitan Waterfront Alliance, Alexander Brash of

          5  yes, of National Parks Conservation Association, I'm

          6  just trying to figure out the acronym, and Michael

          7  Plumb of the Columbia Environmental Law Clinic,

          8  Michael Plumb.

          9                 Okay.  Alex, good to see you.

         10  Carter, good to see you.  Michael, we have a new

         11  witness in Michael.  I appreciate you all being

         12  here.  Donna will give you the oath and then in turn

         13  we'll start with Alex, then Carter, then we'll do

         14  Mr. Plumb.

         15                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         16  raise your right hands.  In the testimony you are

         17  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

         18  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         19                 MR. CRAFT: I do.

         20                 MR. BRASH: I do.

         21                 MR. PLUMB: I do.

         22                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Alex, please

         24  feel free to state your name for the record and

         25  commence your testimony and anyone who has a written
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          2  statement  --  anybody have a written statement to

          3  give to the sergeant for distribution?  Okay.  Yes.

          4  I need copies of those.  Okay.

          5                 MR. BRASH: Thank you very much,

          6  Council Member. Distinguished members of the City

          7  Council and your panel, thank you for allowing me

          8  the opportunity to address you today.  My name is

          9  Alexander R. Brash, the Regional Director of the

         10  National Parks Conservation Association as well as

         11  the Chair of the Habitat Workgroup for the EPA's

         12  Harbor Estuary Program.  With me also today in the

         13  audience is Oliver Spellman, a colleague from NPCA

         14   --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Where's Oliver?

         16  I just want him to raise his hand and be recognized.

         17  Okay.  Good.

         18                 MR. BRASH:  --  Who also has many

         19  years of distinguished service with New York City

         20  Parks in his past.

         21                 NPCA is America's only non- profit

         22  private organization dedicated solely to protecting

         23  the National Park system.  Founded in 1919, it's

         24  served as an advocate and watchdog for our national

         25  parks for more than 90 years and has over 27,000 New
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          2  York City members as well as 330,000 members

          3  nationwide.  NPCA represents the constituency that

          4  includes not only the National Park Service itself

          5  but, of course, all the residents in the community

          6  surrounding each park and all the visitors who make

          7  over 280 million visitor trips each year to our

          8  National Parks.

          9                 As you know, in New York City there

         10  are nearly a dozen great national park sites,

         11  including Hamilton Grange, Teddy Roosevelt's

         12  Birthplace, St. Paul's Church, Governor's Island,

         13  the Statue of Liberty and the 26,000 acre Gateway

         14  National Recreation. Gateway by itself is not as

         15  well known in its own name but it does include, of

         16  course, Great Kills in Staten Island, Fort Tillery

         17  and Reese Beach on Rockaway and in Brooklyn both

         18  Floyd Bennett Field and Jamaica Bay Wildlife Refuge.

         19  It is our concern, in particular for Gateway, and

         20  also wearing the HEP (phonetic) hat, our concern for

         21  the New York/New Jersey Harbor that brings us here

         22  today.

         23                 For most, as we all know, hopefully

         24  we all know by now, in this august group, wetlands

         25  are key, both large and small, fresh and estuarine,
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          2  are vital for protection of the environment and

          3  human public health.  They filter pollution,

          4  cleaning up our coastal waters, such as sediment,

          5  nutrients, chemical contaminants and bacteria.  They

          6  absorb flood waters.  They protect our coasts and

          7  our homes and they provide a home to a myriad of

          8  plants and animals.

          9                 Today what I wanted to go over is

         10  just a few minor points, major points hopefully.

         11  One, first, one that has been addressed previously

         12  but we would reiterate.  It has always been at least

         13  EPA and HEP groups program to aim at a swimmable and

         14  fishable New York Harbor and that puts you back on

         15  that tier one of support.

         16                 There are a couple of things we do

         17  think the City could do immediately.  One is to pass

         18  a City Council resolution, draft attached, making

         19  clear the City's support for both the Army Corps

         20  Restoration Program, ongoing, and seeking the

         21  appropriate restorations needed to begin projects

         22  that have already been designed and are being funded

         23  by the City and DEP has put the money down to finish

         24  projects out at Sand View Park, Spring Creek and

         25  Marine Park.  These projects will get a three- to-
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          2  one federal match and are worth pursuing.  Needless

          3  to say, obviously, adopt all the recommendations of

          4  the great City Council Wetlands Task Force,

          5  particularly Arlington Marsh, Arlington Marsh and

          6  Arlington Marsh. Fourth, or third, as amazing as

          7  this request may seem, I would ask the City Council

          8  to please support the President's recent budget

          9  proposal that will provide an additional $258

         10  million to the National Parks, which has a woefully

         11  under- funded system.  Gateway alone will receive

         12  $3.6 million and such funding will go a long way

         13  towards helping Gateway become an iconic, and not

         14  ironic, National Park.  We're not asking you to

         15  support the rest of the budget, but that, in

         16  particular, would be terrific.

         17                 And finally, as you all realize, the

         18  best way to achieve our goal of cleaner waters is

         19  actually to have full public access and have the

         20  public embrace the idea and truly, perhaps, the most

         21  important steps are to clean up the litter and

         22  debris which mar Jamaica Bay and other parts of the

         23  Harbor and there are two basic component to this:

         24  One, the City through either Parks or DEP or both

         25  should add some kind of dedicated seasonal crew to
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          2  go up and clean up the marshes ringing the water

          3  bodies.  The second is the City should ask the

          4  State's Department of Environmental Conservation to

          5  re- think their policies and regulations such that

          6  all abandoned vehicles, derelict boats, construction

          7  debris, rusty metal, broken glass are not considered

          8  fish habitat but, in fact, are removed from the

          9  water and our shorelines so that our families,

         10  friends and kids can go down and enjoy the water,

         11  build the bonds that will make the task of this

         12  entire group a lot easier.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Alex.

         15    Appreciate that.  Appreciate you being here.

         16  Carter.

         17                 MR. CRAFT: Good afternoon.  Thanks.

         18  My name is Carter Craft, I'm Director of

         19  Metropolitan Waterfront Alliance. Thanks for the

         20  opportunity to participate today.  I've got five

         21  points I want to make, picking up on a lot of

         22  different testimonials that have been made.

         23                 One is to have an ambitious but

         24  achievable goal.  We heard from two different

         25  representatives of the Mayoral Administration, one
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          2  who said we've already achieved the 90% recreational

          3  use, in a way, so to me that supports the fact that

          4  we're really not ambitious enough.  You know, the

          5  ambitious goal would be to achieve the clean water

          6  act, fishable, swimmable goals that now 35- 36 years

          7  ago and as for primary use and that would be

          8  swimming, that would be according to the EPA's

          9  definition, also kayaking.

         10                 You know, PlanYC is, I'm afraid, is

         11  projected as today, kind of sounds like Plan Yacht

         12  Club and for those who can afford motor boats or

         13  slips at marinas or garages to keep a trailer and

         14  boat in, this vision of recreational use is for you

         15  but for those who, you know, don't mind lugging a

         16  kayak on the subway or dragging it to the end of

         17  your street or want to get into Whitehall gig, where

         18  you're 12- 16 inches above the waterline, I'm not

         19  sure this Administration is really committed to

         20  access for everybody as opposed to access for those

         21  who can afford it.  And the people who can afford

         22  it, you know, obviously have enough opportunities as

         23  we know it.  What a better way to commemorate the

         24  50th anniversary of the Clean Water Act than by the

         25  year 2030 to live up to its primary use goal.
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          2                 Number two, the, through the Long

          3  Term Control Plan process and internal conversations

          4  as we know have been happening at DEP, there's the

          5  possibility or at least the exploration of splitting

          6  the stormwater and the sewer charges so for water

          7  rate payers, your bill could actually be re-

          8  structured so that the volume of sewage which your

          9  site or facility is producing according to the

         10  number of units, etc. Etc., you may also have that

         11  sewage charge split so that for whatever runoff your

         12  site was generating, you would be paying for that

         13  separately.  You wouldn't be paying more, you would

         14  just have your sewer charge split into what's being

         15  generated by your household or office and what's

         16  being generated by your very unsustainable design

         17  and construction of your site with an impervious

         18  rooftop, lack of tree plantings on the sidewalk and

         19  when you look at the opportunities that would be

         20  created by splitting that stormwater charge, the

         21  presentation was made by Hershel Wise from the

         22  Building Owners and Managers Association, he's

         23  looked at this himself and presented the information

         24  to DEP.

         25                 But there you go with a revenue
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          2  stream that could be dedicated to some of the best

          3  management practices, low impact developments like

          4  Council Member Koppell's request for more incentives

          5  for green roofs, for more dedicated funding streams

          6  so that Health and Hospitals or the Housing

          7  Authority or any of the City Agencies involved in

          8  major capital projects could draw on something and

          9  have something to bond against or borrow from in

         10  order to make that environmental investment cost

         11  effective for them.  Hopefully, just thinking about

         12  it right now, on the Gowanus Canal, but they're

         13  thinking about it privately.

         14                 Number three, the commitment to BMPs.

         15    That was encouraging to see Commissioner Lloyd

         16  addressing it quite profusely in her testimony.

         17  Still has lots of questions but we understand that

         18  that's part of the process given where we are, so we

         19  were glad to see that.

         20                 Number four, as we showed on the map

         21  that we submitted as part of our testimony, the

         22  focus on the tributaries is absolutely critical and

         23  we put this little box in the lower left, sort of

         24  showing the stretch from Green Point up the East

         25  River around to LaGuardia Airport because according
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          2  to the information we've gotten from DEP, that's the

          3  stretch of the East River, including its tributaries

          4  that will be the farthest from compliance with CSO

          5  expectations and commitments, even after the new

          6  pumps, the containment tanks and other investments

          7  have been made, that little stretch of the East

          8  River from Newtown Creek really up to Flushing Bay

          9  is still going to have the worst water quality.

         10                 So when we're looking at creating

         11  targeting investments in these low impact

         12  developments or best management practices, there's a

         13  perfect stretch because there you've got Sunnyside

         14  Yards flowing right into that, you know, there

         15  you've got Queens West as well as the Hunter's Point

         16  Housing Redevelopment and there you've got right in

         17  the middle Randall's Island which, right now, you

         18  know, the conversations all about privatizing the

         19  park, but why can't this island, at the corner, sort

         20  of the elbow of the East River be the model and be

         21  the engine and be the vehicle for the restoration of

         22  the East River, which as far as the major water

         23  bodies of the City goes is also the most unhealthy.

         24                 So the last point I want to make is

         25  that we should take this initiative in PlanNYC and
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          2  put it into our thinking now as I think the early

          3  questioning of how does this initiative fit into the

          4  City's capital budget this year and look at places

          5  like where DOT is going to be reconstructing the

          6  bridges on the Belt Parkway, which Brad Sewell may

          7  have mentioned, but mentioned in conversation,

          8  that's going to generate a huge amount of runoff,

          9  look at places where State DOT is going to spend

         10  over $1 billion rebuilding the Gowanus elevated.

         11  You know, why can't we look at major capital

         12  projects, and particularly the transportation

         13  projects, of the DOTs and even the Port Authority

         14  that controls the airports in some of these places

         15  as potential proving grounds for some of these new

         16  wave investments.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         19  Thank you, Carter. Michael.

         20                 MR. PLUMB: Good afternoon.  My name

         21  is Mike Plumb and I am appearing for Reed Super of

         22  the Columbia Law Clinic, which represents

         23  Riverkeeper on a variety  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You've got to

         25  speak right into the  --  you can't speak obliquely.
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          2    If you speak right in there, then it registers.

          3                 MR. PLUMB: I'll just start over then?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, sure.

          5                 MR.. PLUMB: Good afternoon.  My name

          6  is Mike Plumb and I am appearing for Reed Super of

          7  the Columbia Law Clinic, which represents

          8  Riverkeeper on a variety of CSO matters in the City.

          9  The Mayor believes that we need to explore

         10  innovative best practices that will prevent

         11  stormwater that isn't polluted from entering the

         12  sewage system.  These best practices, or source

         13  controls, should be used to address the continuing

         14  problem of billions of gallons of raw sewage flowing

         15  into New York City waterways every year.  We share

         16  the Mayor's vision of "greening" our urban

         17  environment.

         18                 You will hear, and have heard, from

         19  others here today that the mayor's proposal of 90%

         20  recreation- supporting water is not sufficient.  We

         21  agree.  However we would like to emphasize that DEP

         22  is falling short of even the Mayor's modest goal.

         23  Unfortunately, DEP does not seem to share the

         24  Mayor's appreciation of the importance of

         25  sustainability.  Rather, DEP has adopted a pattern
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          2  of minimizing the value of sustainable CSO solutions

          3  such as source control, frustrating the Mayor'

          4  sustainability goals.

          5                 For example, in the Paerdegat Basin

          6  LTCP, a document spanning nearly 400 pages, DEP

          7  dedicated a single conclusory paragraph to source

          8  control, stating simply that source control was

          9   "unreasonable" and therefore "not further

         10  considered."  Then, just four months ago, DEC

         11  officials testifying to this Committee summarily

         12  dismissed source control as a viable CSO reduction

         13  measure.

         14                 Finally, and most notably, the June

         15  2007 draft city-wide waterbody/watershed plans are

         16  being developed independently from a DEP sponsored

         17  city- wide survey of source control applicability.

         18  The DEP study of source controls was initially

         19  scheduled for completion in October 2006, but its

         20  release date has now been pushed back far enough

         21  that is will be issued after the draft

         22  waterbody/watershed plans, and thus after the City's

         23  plan of attack on CSOs has been determined.

         24                 The question must be asked: If the

         25  source control study is ongoing, how did the
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          2  Paerdegat Basin LTCP conclude source control was

          3  unreasonable, and how will the issue be addressed in

          4  the June 2007 waterbody/watershed plans without a

          5  completed study?

          6                 Abundant evidence demonstrates that

          7  source control effectively reduces CSO volumes.  For

          8  example, by including source controls, such as

          9  permeable pavement, storage tanks for water reuse,

         10  green roofs and landscaping, on just 22 acres, the

         11  Atlantic Yards Project reduced sewer overflow

         12  volumes in the East River and Gowanus Canal by 9.8

         13  million gallons per year.  Likewise, the Parks

         14  Department has realized the value of source control

         15  by using captured stormwater for the irrigation of

         16  Green Streets.  Green Streets are vegetated areas,

         17  often seen on street medians, that can collect and

         18  use stormwater.  A recent study suggests that the

         19  Green Street installed on the corner of 110th Street

         20  and Amsterdam likely retains at least 200,000

         21  gallons of stormwater per year that would otherwise

         22  enter the sewers.  Obviously, installing such Green

         23  Streets would significantly reduce CSO volumes.

         24                 Private industry and other NYC

         25  agencies have adopted source control as a practical,
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          2  cost effective solution for advancing the Mayor's

          3  goals of a sustainable, greener City.  Yet DEP

          4  remains reluctant to consider anything but end- of-

          5  pipe solutions.

          6                 Perhaps this reluctance stems from

          7  the fact that DEP does not measure (or benefit as an

          8  agency) from the many ancillary benefit of source

          9  controls.  While end- of- pipe construction merely

         10  decreases CSOs, source controls decrease CSOs while

         11  providing abundant additional benefits to the

         12  community.

         13                 For example, Green Streets, Street

         14  Trees and roof gardens all help cool a warming city,

         15  thereby decreasing electricity demand and cost as

         16  well as mitigating heat related health issues.

         17  Source controls green the urban environment,

         18  beautifying city streets and thereby increasing

         19  property values. Source controls also decrease air

         20  pollution and reduce demand on the City's water

         21  supply.  All of these benefits are necessary to

         22  maintain a livable city and each addresses elements

         23  of the Mayor's sustainability initiative, but none,

         24  save CSO control, fall within the scope of the CSO

         25  Long Term Control Plans.
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          2                 The March release of PlanYC should

          3  include, at a minimum, corrections for the

          4  inefficiencies promulgated by the single benefit per

          5  project mindset inherent to DEP projects and

          6  planning.  Such corrections may include either

          7  formalized inter- and intra- agency "sustainability"

          8  reviews or budgetary incentives for consideration

          9  and implementation of CSO solutions that promote

         10  additional sustainable benefits.  In addition,

         11  adequate resources must be dedicated to the source

         12  control study so that a complete and comprehensive

         13  report can be used in drafting the June 2007

         14  waterbody/watershed plans.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         17  Thank you, Michael. Alex, I want to thank you for

         18  being here, thank you for the copy of the resolution

         19  that you've attached.  I appreciate when people do

         20  that.  It makes life easier for us and for your

         21  support for Arlington Marsh and all wetlands.  We're

         22  making headway with the Administration on that, we

         23  had a whole pow wow with them on the Arlington

         24  Marsh.  We're going to be doing Intro 506 and we're

         25  doing a wetlands transfer and so we appreciate your

                                                            90

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  support on that and I'm just stunned by the derelict

          3  boats and cars that are just dumped in these creeks.

          4    They just stay there or like, who's jurisdiction

          5  are they to get rid of them?

          6                 MR. BRASH: One, I just wanted to

          7  thank you for your leadership, particularly on the

          8  wetlands transfer, while we're on the subject.

          9  Generally speaking, in my past experience working

         10  with the City, what happened was if someone drove a

         11  vehicle off the highway into a salt marsh, if it was

         12  not immediately pulled out by PD and so forth, that

         13  after a short duration while it still had glass but

         14  had turned rusty, it was then declared as, I forget

         15  what the real term is but it's fish habitat and they

         16  would stay.  And you had, then, to go through a huge

         17  process to get permits to remove them.  The same is

         18  certainly true  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Who would have

         20  to give  --

         21                 MR. BRASH: DC, New York DC,

         22  Department of Environmental Conservation.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, because once

         24  it is deemed habitat, if you want to take away that

         25  habitat it's like a lot of yelling and screaming,
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          2  right?

          3                 MR. BRASH: Yes.  Precisely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Do we have

          5  examples of this that I can go to Pete Grannis on,

          6  because I'm, I've got a lot of respect for him, he's

          7  a brand new guy, you know, the new Chairman of the

          8  State DEC and  --

          9                 MR. BRASH: We'd be happy to work with

         10  your office and find some examples and look at the

         11  language.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I don't mean to

         13  give you, like, a homework assignment here, but it's

         14  crazy that  --  please get it to Donna DeCostanzo,

         15  Counsel to the Committee, and I'll go to Pete and

         16  say, "Hey, what's the deal?" Because once so

         17  designated by DEC it's really up to them to

         18  facilitate the removal of them.

         19                 MR. BRASH: Well, Don Riepe, who you

         20  know has been doing this for years, but goes through

         21  a whole magilla each year to certify which one does

         22  or doesn't have muscles on it  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You get that to

         24  me, I'll work with the local Council Member, whoever

         25  it is, depending on where it is in the City and
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          2  we'll go to Pete and say, "come on, we've got to get

          3  rid of this."  Hulking, rusting cars half sticking

          4  out, it's crazy.

          5                 MR. BRASH: It scares the kids away.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yeah!  What's

          7  that about?  To use a colloquial phrase.  Thank you,

          8  Alex, appreciate that.

          9                 Carter, I had not heard of like the

         10  stormwater charge, bifurcation concept or whatever

         11  and now it's on my radar, it's on the staff's radar

         12  and is something that we'll certainly take a look

         13  at.  I appreciate that, that idea.  And certainly, I

         14  guess this goes for you as well as Michael, you've

         15  got to admit that the DEP in its testimony today is,

         16  seems to have embraced source control with the terms

         17  talked about all the BMPs or it seems as though

         18  progress is being made there.  We've pushed them to

         19  figure out how they can use the sustainability

         20  effort to create more lofty goals and targets in

         21  their budget requests and I think by you being here

         22  today and by you making the case and by us

         23  continuing to have these hearings and trying to

         24  influence the process, it looks like we're moving

         25  them in the right direction. I can't spend more time
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          2  because I have to move on but go ahead.

          3                 MR. CRAFT: I just wanted to say that

          4   --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You got your

          6  finger just before --

          7                 MR. CRAFT:  --  Embracing it and

          8  doing something are two different things.  What we

          9  really want them to do is do something.  Commit to a

         10  real schedule that means something.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I stand by what

         12  I said to them. I'm trying to push them and I'm

         13  doing the best I can and you're helping me do that.

         14  I appreciate that.

         15                 I also appreciate the fact that we're

         16  joined by Council Member Stewart, who was here at

         17  the very, very beginning. I said he was going to be

         18  back, and he's sitting right here.  So, thank you.

         19  I thank you, Kendall.  Thank you, guys, I appreciate

         20  you being here.

         21                 Teresa Crimmens of the Bronx River

         22  Alliance, Rob Crauderueff of Sustainable South

         23  Bronx, Kate Zidar of the Lower East Side Ecology

         24  Center.  Sorry we're just having like an internal

         25  discussion here.  We look like we're really
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          2  seriously talking. Okay.  Donna will give the oath

          3  and then you can proceed with your testimony.

          4                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

          5  raise your right hands.  In the testimony you are

          6  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

          7  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          8                 MS. CRIMMENS: I do.

          9                 MR. CRAUDERUEFF: I do.

         10                 MS. ZIDAR: I do.

         11                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Who's

         13  Kate?  Okay, fine. Thank you.  If anybody has

         14  written testimony, you give it to the sergeant or

         15  whatever, sure, Teresa, please, state your name for

         16  the record and start your testimony.

         17                 MS. CRIMMENS: My name is Teresa

         18  Crimmens.  I'm speaking on behalf of the Bronx River

         19  Alliance.  Thank you for inviting the Bronx River

         20  Alliance to testify.  The Alliance acts as a

         21  coordinated voice for the river and works

         22  collaboratively with public and private partners to

         23  protect, improve and restore the Bronx River

         24  corridor and Greenway and, therefore, we are deeply

         25  concerned about the impact of CSOs in polluted
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          2  stormwater on the river's health and its potential

          3  as a recreational resource.  I'll probably end up

          4  echoing a lot of what was said but I'm just going to

          5  go ahead and echo.

          6                 The Alliance is also a founding

          7  member of Storm Water Infrastructure Matters, a

          8  coalition that I believe Basil mentioned.  It's a

          9  coalition dedicated to ensuring swimmable waters

         10  around New York City through natural, sustainable

         11  stormwater management practices in our

         12  neighborhoods.  We sort of have an interim website

         13  going that's listed in the testimony and Rob will

         14  speak more about that coalition.  In effort to

         15  reduce the effect of CSOs on the estuary, New York

         16  City must focus on capturing, infiltrating or

         17  otherwise retaining stormwater before it enters the

         18  combined system to reduce CSOs.  We believe that

         19  this approach is environmentally and fiscally

         20  responsible because it utilizes stormwater as a

         21  resource, not as a waste.

         22                 We also think that it's a crucial

         23  step towards meeting the City's long term goals of

         24  opening the waterways to primary recreation but also

         25  of reducing the urban heat island and creating
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          2  healthy neighborhoods for the people who live in New

          3  York City.  In pursuing this specific goal of

          4  opening the waterways, the Alliance recommends that

          5  New York City pay particular attention to the

          6  following critical issues:

          7                 The City must achieve water quality

          8  standards for all existing uses, which gets at the

          9  sort of primary and secondary thing.  1,000 people

         10  joined me in paddling the Bronx River in canoes and

         11  kayaks during 2006 alone.  I co- manage a volunteer

         12  water quality monitoring program that sees youth and

         13  adults every week, all year round coming into

         14  contact with the water.  Every year, we witness

         15  people swimming in the Bronx River.  So, primary

         16  recreation definitely should be protected as part of

         17  this plan and reducing the water pollution to get to

         18  that primary recreation goal must be done through

         19  the use of Green Infrastructure, low impact

         20  development, source controls, whatever we want to

         21  call it these days.

         22                 We think that through the Long Term

         23  Control Plan, implementation of these demonstration

         24  source control sites should be happening now and the

         25  information generated from these should be used to

                                                            97

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  plan for what's going to happen in 2030.  These

          3  initiatives should include Green Streets, Street

          4  Trees, Green Roofs, Soil Based Infiltration and

          5  other sustainable stormwater management practices

          6  that aim to capture this water at the source before

          7  it enters the system.  New York City should promote

          8  decentralized ecologically focused stormwater

          9  infiltration also through regulation, education,

         10  creation of new incentives for the public and

         11  private sectors, and, whenever possible, should

         12  partner with other agencies.

         13                 As I said before, the information

         14  does exist on source controls.  I believe I heard

         15  Commissioner Lloyd mention, sort of, extensive

         16  research, and I don't believe that the DEP should be

         17  wasting its resources, the City's resources, on

         18  extensive research.  We should be building on what

         19  others know to sort of speed our work here in New

         20  York City.  The Long Term Control Plan process

         21  should be utilized as a vehicle, as has been said

         22  before, to achieve this water quality goal.  The

         23  City is legally bound through the consent order to

         24  proceed with this Long Term Control Plan and

         25  sustainable initiatives to protect recreational uses
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          2  should be integrated into the Long Term Control

          3  Plan, separating them from the Sustainability

          4  Initiative is inefficient.

          5                 Commissioner Lloyd mentioned DEP's

          6  work in BMPs, specifically in, I believe she was

          7  referring to Jamaica Bay, and what's going on

          8  through Local Law 71 and what's happened in the

          9  Bluebelt but we need an expedited process, a sort of

         10  set goals for the rest of the City.  Bluebelt is a

         11  model and it's not the best thing to implement

         12  Citywide, but its success can be implemented

         13  Citywide and I think that there are other models for

         14  what can happen in the more densely urban areas.

         15                 Preserving natural areas should not

         16  be just a means to improving water quality but

         17  should be a goal in and of itself. The Bronx River

         18  is the only fresh water river in the City and its

         19  unique resource really should be protected.

         20  Stakeholder involvement continues to be very

         21  important.  Environmental groups, community

         22  organizations, citizen scientists are implementing

         23  these stormwater controls now.  They are doing it

         24  now and DEP should really work with them to the

         25  extent that they can to partner and make more of
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          2  those happen.

          3                 The last thing I wanted to talk about

          4  was public education.  Eight million New Yorkers

          5  flush their toilets every day and see the water

          6  around them every day but probably very few make the

          7  connection of what the weather outside, and the

          8  pipes, and the stormwater all have on the water

          9  quality and the more people know about that the more

         10  likely that private citizens are to make good

         11  choices on their own lots to improve water quality.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.  Rob,

         14  okay, I have your testimony right here.  Okay,

         15  please.

         16                 MR. CRAUDERUEFF: Good afternoon.  My

         17  name is Rob Crauderueff and I speak on behalf of

         18  Sustainable South Bronx and the Coalition Stormwater

         19  Infrastructure Matters, otherwise known as SWIM,

         20  which is comprised of a growing number of

         21  organizations Citywide.  Storm Water Infrastructure

         22  Matters is a coalition dedicated to ensuring

         23  swimmable waters around New York City through

         24  natural, sustainable storm water management

         25  practices in our neighborhoods, as we already heard.
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          2    I want to thank you for providing us the

          3  opportunity to share our thoughts and opinions

          4  today.

          5                 First recommendation that the

          6  coalition SWIM has is that the PlanNYC Water Quality

          7  Plan and Long Term Control Plan be integrated

          8  processes.  We've heard that several times today,

          9  but it's worth emphasis.  The distinction is an

         10  artificial one and is not a productive process.

         11  Rather, the city should use its sustainability

         12  initiative as an opportunity to incorporate natural,

         13  sustainable stormwater management into its long term

         14  control plan where billions of City dollars will be

         15  spent.  Moreover, we are echoing the desires of the

         16  New York State Department of Environmental

         17  Conservation, which wants to see greening strategies

         18  incorporated into the Long Term Control Plan, which

         19  thus far is lacking in those plans.

         20                 Because the City holds a

         21  responsibility to look out for the public interest,

         22  it should encourage and support the incorporation of

         23  natural and sustainable source control strategies,

         24  such as green roofs, green streets, permeable

         25  pavements and many of the other strategies that
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          2  we've heard today into the Long Term Control Plan.

          3  Researchers have quantified time and time again that

          4  implementing source control strategies could cost-

          5  effectively reduce the need for expensive, end- of-

          6  the- pipe infrastructure to reduce CSOs in New York

          7  City.  Based on this information alone,

          8  strategically incorporating greening strategies into

          9  the Long Term Control Plan would be a rational

         10  decision.  In addition, greening the City can have

         11  many other impacts toward the public, including

         12  energy reduction, climate change adaptation, air

         13  quality and public health improvements and

         14  beautifying our City.  None of these additional

         15  benefits results from stormwater retention tanks,

         16  upon which the DEP wants to completely rely to

         17  address the CSO issue at this point in time.

         18                 Our second recommendation is in terms

         19  of water quality standards, coalition SWIM

         20  recommends that PlanNYC plans for our waterways to

         21  be safe for primary contacts, which is swimming and

         22  kayaking, not just secondary contact such as

         23  boating.  In Hunts Point we have two new waterfront

         24  parks, community assets, and to not be able to fully

         25  use the waterfront as they are intended and planned
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          2  for would be a real wasted opportunity.

          3                 We also ask that the public be

          4  incorporated in a meaningful and collaborative

          5  process.  As we've seen today, there's a tremendous

          6  amount of knowledge from grassroots organizations,

          7  from larger environmental organizations in terms of

          8  how the stormwater and water quality planning should

          9  occur.  So, we need to be brought to the process

         10  throughout.  We also urge the decision making

         11  process for all of this be transparent.

         12                 Fourth, coalition SWIM encourages the

         13  City to partner with existing grassroots efforts and

         14  pilot projects and studies.  We specifically invite

         15  the City to use the Bronx river Watershed as a

         16  demonstration area for storm water capture through

         17  greening.

         18                 Fifth, we encourage the Council to

         19  mandate multi agency cooperation for the planning

         20  and implementation of green stormwater management

         21  strategies.  Strategies such as urban forestry,

         22  green streets, green roofs and permeable pavement

         23  require the cooperation and support of multiple City

         24  agencies.  Here, the Council should use lessons

         25  learned from Local Law 71 and the Long Term Control
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          2  Plan process to require collaborative citywide

          3  planning.

          4                 Sixth, we call on the City to create

          5  incentives that encourage private stormwater

          6  management.  We have many ideas, including offering

          7  rate reductions, Sustainable South Bronx's recent

          8  memo to the Mayor includes over ten recommendations

          9  for how the City can incentivize stormwater

         10  management planning.

         11                 Seventh, the PlanNYC water quality

         12  plan should include ecological goals.  We live in a

         13  world not only of economic but also ecological

         14  interdependence.  Preserving and improving the

         15  ecological health of our rivers also impacts the

         16  health of our City.

         17                 Eighth, and finally, SWIM NYC feels

         18  that PlanNYC should create quantifiable goals with

         19  measurable milestones that integrate with and

         20  supplement the milestones of the Long Term Control

         21  Plan.  These goals should be set and reevaluated

         22  annually through a collaborative process involving

         23  all stakeholders.  Action steps should be publicized

         24  in a publicly available report that delineates how

         25  the City plans on achieving its water quality goals.
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          2                 In conclusion we seek the Council's

          3  support to help make the City's water quality plans

          4  as cost- effective and publicly beneficial as

          5  possible.  There is much work to be done and so we

          6  look forward to working with the Council in this

          7  effort.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I have to ask

          9  you  --

         10                 MR. CRAUDERUEFF: Finally, we have a

         11  website.  May I just quickly read it off?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I just, I have

         13  to draw the line somewhere.  Thank you.  Oh, and

         14  we're joined by Council Member Bill DeBlasio.

         15  Appreciate it, Bill, thank you.  Kate.

         16                 MS. ZIDAR: Hi.  Good afternoon.

         17  Thank you for having us today.  I certainly feel

         18  like I've been educated today and a lot of what I

         19  said, or what I had planned to say, that's in my

         20  testimony, has already been said, so maybe I'll read

         21  off that website to start, as I am also a member of

         22  coalition Stormwater Infrastructure Matters.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You ruin it for

         24  me, because as part of my questioning I was going to

         25  ask Rob to do the thing, so save that moment for me,
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          2  because I was going to do that for him. But I didn't

          3  want to do it, like, during his testimony.  I know

          4  what I'm doing up here.  Trust me.

          5                 MS. ZIDAR: All right, all right, all

          6  right.  Okay. So, at the risk of kind of repeating,

          7  the recreation word in this goal of the water

          8  quality goal of the PlanNYC is fuzzy and it has the

          9  ability to sound ambitious without really being

         10  ambitious.  I would recommend that the goal be re-

         11  termed in ecological terms or in reference to our

         12  existing water quality standards or clean water act.

         13    There's no lack of language.

         14                 I'm sorry.  I'm Kate Zidar from the

         15  Lower East Side Ecology Center.  For the Record.

         16  The LESEC is an organization that is active in

         17  public open space stewardship, we support the land

         18  side stormwater management best practices, what

         19  we've heard called source controls, and all of the

         20  partnerships, public- private as well as inter-

         21  agency, and the incentives that work would entail.

         22                 It's my opinion that a plan from the

         23  Mayor's office would have the ability to kind of

         24  take that step back view that the Commissioner spoke

         25  of earlier and really elaborate on how the agencies
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          2  could work together: The Department of

          3  Transportation feeding water into green streets, the

          4  Department of Parks and Recreation properties, that

          5  kind of thing, and also to take that step back view

          6  of how incentives might work.  I would hope to see

          7  something in concrete terms on that.

          8                 But also the multiple benefits that

          9  come from source control that escape the mandate of

         10  DEP so far could really be enhanced, or elaborated

         11  on in this plan since it does talk about climate

         12  change as well as transportation and energy and da

         13  da da da da.

         14                 We've also heard a lot today about

         15  the Long Term Control Plan.  I am, being a part of

         16  that process in the CACs, I'm very concerned that

         17  this is becoming an opportunity for DEP to play

         18  source control hot potato so to speak.  We've heard

         19  a lot about source controls and kind of in the same

         20  breath about why they're not appropriate here and

         21  now the PlanNYC is kind of coming up as a "Oh,

         22  that's where they're going to go."  I would like to

         23  know in both plans, specifically how these plans are

         24  going to relate to one another and where source

         25  control  --  the two plans going on should have a
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          2  reinforcement of the outcomes, not kind of a

          3   "they're going to do it, no, they're going to do

          4  it."

          5                 PlanNYC also has an opportunity to

          6  support the grassroots efforts in source control

          7  that are going on.  It's kind of a myth that there's

          8  nothing really happening here, it's just happening

          9  in small ways.  We've already heard about green

         10  streets, we already heard, well, maybe we haven't

         11  heard yet, I'll tell you about rainwater harvesting

         12  and rainwater capture and green roofs, some local

         13  resources for those projects that are going on in

         14  the City are included in my testimony and things

         15  that are happening already are happening because

         16  they are cost effective and they are locally

         17  appropriate, so that's a really good place to begin

         18  an analysis and I've stated that for DEPs ears as

         19  well.

         20                 Let's see.  A lot of this has already

         21  been said.  I might just skip.

         22                 We've heard about the SWIM coalition.

         23    In the grassroots community you have an eager

         24  partner.  The Lower Eastside Ecology Center is part

         25  of this coalition and we support the content of

                                                            108

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  their testimony today.  And Teresa also spoke about

          3  my favorite topic of public education.  This plan

          4  also has an opportunity because it's very glossy and

          5  beautiful so far, I feel like it has a great public

          6  face and it could really be a great opportunity to

          7  educate the broader public about how their actions

          8  everyday effect water quality.  Also, public

          9  education is a great way to tie in programs.  In

         10  other cities there have been rain barrel campaigns,

         11  rain garden competitions, there are all sorts of lot

         12  level source control opportunities that the private

         13  sector, on private lots, in a lot of the City.  You

         14  know, there's a lot that the City can do on its own

         15  property but in the end, you have to look at the

         16  whole neighborhood.  In neighborhoods, there's

         17  really a lot that can be done lot by lot, house by

         18  house and with public education tied in to actual

         19  programs, that's where a lot of gains can be made.

         20                 Thank you for the opportunity to talk

         21  today.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         23  Thank you all.  I appreciate you being here and Rob,

         24  I just wanted you to give the website, like, on my

         25  time rather because I just can't let people go over
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          2  too much, you know.  I was going to come back to

          3  you.  So, here's my question for you.  Whatever

          4  information you want to put on the record regarding

          5  the website or whatever, please do so.

          6                 MR. CRAUDERUEFF: The website can be

          7  found at bronxriver.org/swimmablenyc.cfm and that's

          8  an interim website.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  We

         10  appreciate that. Thank you all for your thoughtful

         11  and comprehensive testimony.  We need you to stay

         12  close to this process as we go forward because

         13  that's the only way we're going to get the result

         14  that we all want. Thank you.  Thank you very much.

         15  Appreciate it.

         16                 An old friend of the Committee, Rick

         17  Muller representing the Downtown Boathouse, Paul

         18  Mankiewicz, talk about an old friend, of the Gaia

         19  Institute, and Michael Heimbinder, am I seeing that

         20  right?  Heimbinder?  Of the Newtown Creek Alliance.

         21  Okay, okay.  Donna's going to swear you all in.

         22                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         23  raise your right hands.  In the testimony that you

         24  are about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell

         25  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the
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          2  truth?

          3                 MR. MULLER: I do.

          4                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: I do.

          5                 MR. HEIMBINDER: I do.

          6                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Rick,

          8  please.

          9                 MR. MULLER: Good afternoon,

         10  Chairperson Gennaro, members of the Committee and

         11  staff.  I'm Rick Muller, Vice President and a

         12  founding member of the Downtown Boathouse, Inc. An

         13  all volunteer non- profit organization that provides

         14  the opportunity for the public to paddle a kayak on

         15  the Hudson for free at three different locations in

         16  Manhattan.  Since 1995 we have gotten well over

         17  200,000 people out on the water to enjoy the City

         18  from a unique vantage point, while having fun and

         19  getting exercise in a wholesome setting.

         20                 Thanks for holding this hearing.  My

         21  testimony today is based on the concept of the

         22  inextricable interrelationship of hand- powered on-

         23  water recreation and awareness of our waters as a

         24  precious resource.  As we reclaim our waterfront we

         25  must remain mindful that the waterways adjacent to
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          2  the public parks we are creating are exactly that- a

          3  precious, renewed, recreational resource for New

          4  Yorkers.

          5                 How many residents are able to leave

          6  the City for the weekend and go to their country

          7  place and of those who can, and do, how many would

          8  choose to avoid the crush of traffic if there were

          9  plenty of outdoor activity right here that they now

         10  believe they must leave the City to enjoy?  Yet if

         11  we were to list all of the waterfront parks within

         12  the City's boundaries it would be interesting to see

         13  how many actually do provide access to and onto the

         14  water itself.

         15                 In the late 19th century, rowing,

         16  sailing and canoe clubs dotted the waterfront.

         17  Kayaking is our modern, though not the only, version

         18  of such activity and people are realizing that

         19  there's no reason we cannot again enjoy human

         20  powered boating in our maritime city in a safe and

         21  sensible manner.  The question is how to maximize

         22  access to the water in our dense, urban environment.

         23                 Marinas and other facilities, and

         24  this echos Carter's comments to this issue, that

         25  house individually owned vessels, do not, in
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          2  practice, serve enough of our large, recreation

          3  starved population.  Yet along with the power

          4  government has to permit the establishment and

          5  operation of marinas comes the common law duty under

          6  the Public Trust Doctrine to provide access to and

          7  onto the navigable waters for everyone.

          8  Unfortunately, it is a principle observed more in

          9  the breach.

         10                 For example, there are currently

         11  thirteen marina concessions overseen by the

         12  Department of Parks and Recreation. How many of

         13  these have provision for the launching and landing

         14  of human- powered boats?  How many, as permitees of

         15  a public agency are required to make some provision

         16  or institute some program for public access to the

         17  water?  How many provide short-term docking for

         18  transients with muni-meter-type systems?

         19                 But beyond marinas, the key to public

         20  access for the greatest number of New Yorkers will

         21  be many small, easily maintained, community- based

         22  waterfront facilities.  Communally or

         23  organizationally owned vessels will be the most

         24  practical way of accomplishing this.  As a case in

         25  point, one of our Boathouse- owned sit- on- top
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          2  kayaks in use in our public programs provides access

          3  to paddling to hundreds, if not thousands of people

          4  over the course of one season.

          5                 So, going forward, we must be sure to

          6  include space for facilities for recreational access

          7  to the water in the designs for the parks being, and

          8  yet to be, built.  Community boathouses do not have

          9  to be over- designed, expensive facilities.  We

         10  provided free public access at Piers 66 and 66A in

         11  Community Board 4 for four years with just a used

         12  shipping container we bought with donations from the

         13  public.  We continue to do the same for tens of

         14  thousands of people in Riverside Park South with two

         15  containers tucked under the Miller Highway.  It is

         16  no less than our obligation under the law, but it is

         17  also about the elements of sustainability: Low-

         18  impact recreation, enhanced environmental awareness,

         19  health, economic vitality and just plain fun.  The

         20  delight, gratitude and almost incredulity people

         21  express as they come off the water having kayaked

         22  for free off the coast of Manhattan is wonderful to

         23  see, but we hope to see the day when such an

         24  experience is just another of the outdoor activities

         25  that makes New York City one of the best places to
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          2  be in the whole world.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Rick,

          5  I appreciate that.  Thank you, thank you, thank you

          6  for your testimony. Michael.

          7                 MR. HEIMBINDER: Hi, my name is

          8  Michael Heimbinder and I am here today on behalf of

          9  the Newtown Creek Alliance.  The Newtown Creek

         10  Alliance is an umbrella organization of over 150

         11  community members, business owners and employees,

         12  creek users and environmental organizations

         13  advocating for the restoration of Newtown Creek.

         14                 Alliance members have been active

         15  participants in both the Newtown Creek and Open

         16  Water Stakeholder Team meetings hosted by the New

         17  York City Department of Environmental Protection as

         18  they develop a Waterbody/Watershed Facility Plan for

         19  Newtown Creek and a city- wide Long Term Control

         20  Plan for combined sewer overflow management.

         21                 We have emerged from the past several

         22  meetings with concerns that the intent of DEP is

         23  merely conform to their legal obligations under the

         24  Wet Weather Quality Act and the consent order signed

         25  with DEC and not to genuinely and aggressively
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          2  better the quality of New York City's waters.

          3                 In order to ensure our concerns are

          4  addressed and incorporated into the

          5  Waterbody/Watershed Facility Plan, we are submitting

          6  the following requests and will send a letter

          7  documenting them to DEP:

          8                 1. That representatives from the

          9  Mayor's Office of Sustainability and the New York

         10  City Departments of Transportation, Buildings and

         11  City Planning be present at the next meeting of both

         12  the Newtown Creek and Open Water Stakeholder Teams;

         13                 2. That the Plan incorporate explicit

         14  provisions for the integration of alternative

         15  stormwater management technologies and mechanisms to

         16  ensure the participation of the Mayor's Office of

         17  Sustainability and the New York City Departments of

         18  Transportation, Buildings and City Planning in

         19  implementing these technologies;

         20                 3. That the Newtown Creek Alliance be

         21  provided the opportunity to formally present

         22  opportunities and propositions for alternative

         23  stormwater management technologies in the Newtown

         24  Creek Watershed at the Stakeholder Meetings;

         25                 4. That there be an explicit
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          2  commitment in the Plan to continuing analysis of

          3  alternative stormwater management practices and to

          4  public participation in the form of quarterly

          5  meetings past the June deadline so that area

          6  residents and workers may continue to assist DEP as

          7  it implements alternate stormwater management

          8  practices; and

          9                 5. Fifth and final, understanding

         10  that New York State water quality designations are

         11  aspirational, developed to guide regulators in

         12  protecting the best uses of the waterbody at hand,

         13  and recognizing the increasing and frequent

         14  recreational use of the creek and its proximity to

         15  several communities underserved by parkland and

         16  natural areas, we request that the water quality

         17  designation for Newtown Creek be raised from its

         18  current designation as SD saline surface water to I,

         19  saline surface water.

         20                 Note that Newtown Creek presently is

         21  at the lowest goal.  We want to explicitly, we want

         22  explicit documentation that the goal is raised to

         23  fishing and boating, as mentioned earlier.

         24                 Over the past four years, the

         25  Alliance has made great strides in restoring the
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          2  creek.  However, it remains one of the most polluted

          3  waterbodies in the country.  This is in large part

          4  due to the 270 million gallons of combined sewer

          5  overflow that enter the creek every year.  We trust

          6  that the Department of Environmental Protection is

          7  as appalled by the condition of the creek as are

          8  members of the Alliance, and will work with us to

          9  make true progress, above and beyond the minimum

         10  threshold of compliance required by federal and

         11  state regulators.

         12                 Thank you for allowing me the time to

         13  speak today.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, thank

         15  you.  I just, is there anyone here from DEP?  Anyone

         16  here from Sustainability? Anyone here representing

         17  Legislative Affairs?  That's really bad. Here's what

         18  we're going to do.  We're going to give them a

         19  little bit of a hot foot now.  They should have been

         20  here to hear this, and they weren't.  My Chief of

         21  Staff, Peter Washburn, is going to take you over to

         22  that telephone, and we're going to call the

         23  Sustainability people and because someone here from

         24  DEP, from the Mayor's office, from the

         25  Sustainability people should be here, but now they
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          2  get to, so, Peter Washburn is going to take you over

          3  to that phone and we're going to, and we're going to

          4  get you a meeting with these guys.

          5                 MR. HEIMBINDER: That'd be fabulous.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Right

          7  now, in real time. And so, Peter, if you could go

          8  over there and do that and just, also, and we've

          9  already sent an email over there saying, "why didn't

         10  all the representatives of the City go?" And while

         11  you have them on the phone, Peter, you know,

         12  indicate that we have these hearings for the benefit

         13  of representatives of the Administration to hear and

         14  so, we shouldn't have to do this kind of thing.  But

         15  we're doing it because, we're here to help we're

         16  from the government.  Anyway.  Paul.  Please.

         17                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: Good to see you.  My

         18  name is Paul Mankiewicz from the Gaia Institute in

         19  New York City Soil and Water Conservation District.

         20  I will be very brief.  There's really two

         21  fundamental performance criteria that need to be

         22  coupled with a long-term control plan, meaning that

         23  in the basic sense, not merely this last piece of

         24  legislation, and that is every linear foot of

         25  infrastructure, 6,300 miles of roadway needs to come
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          2  with a capacity for stormwater capture.  Were that

          3  number 100 gallons per linear foot and tomorrow in

          4  your district I could build a system that would do

          5  this on a roadway, that would mean that we would

          6  capture about the equivalent, about 3 billion

          7  gallons of water on a rainstorm, about half an inch

          8  of rainfall over the entire 307 square miles.  Just

          9  the performance criteria that goes exactly with the

         10  transportation infrastructure like the Director of

         11  Sustainability is a transportation expert, would

         12  make a huge difference for stormwater quality and

         13  for neighborhoods because those could be ways of

         14  enhancing tree pits, green streets, community

         15  gardens in these areas.

         16                 Another very simple performance

         17  criteria, we have 600 linear miles of coastline.

         18  Were we to have just a single square foot of muscles

         19  or oysters along every foot, one square foot, we

         20  would filter six billion gallons of water a day, one

         21  half of the wastewater we dump into the whole of the

         22  Hudson, the East River, the Harlem River each day.

         23  More, obviously, would do much, much more

         24  altogether.

         25                 These simple performance criteria as
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          2  part of the long term control plan would literally

          3  bring life to solve problems that we are creating.

          4  These are keystone species.  Every species in the

          5  estuary depends to some degree on them.

          6                 Another criteria we may use is green

          7  roofs, green streets, green spaces, community

          8  gardens, literally drop the temperature of the City

          9  between five and 20 degrees on a Summer day.  People

         10  should get some kind of tax credit for that because

         11  that's literally enhancing environmental quality for

         12  everyone. It's taking what would be stormwater going

         13  into the combined sewer and literally cooling the

         14  environment.  Last year we lost 35 citizens because

         15  of increased heat, 100 degree days.  We could

         16  actually transform that in the other direction,

         17  support bird life, the other creatures that actually

         18  come through here in the multiple millions as well

         19  as any fool knows to go under a tree on a hot day.

         20                 With those two criteria, the length

         21  of the estuary, the length of the roadway, being

         22  coupled with environmental quality enhancement and

         23  the coverage, the area being connected to the

         24  thermal signal that actually keeps us alive and

         25  makes this place healthier and more comfortable
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          2  during the Summer months, and Winter as well, we

          3  could make a huge step towards a sustainable future.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Paul.

          5  I just want to make sure that, you're meeting with

          6  the Sustainability people, you're getting to them?

          7  Okay, so you're talking to those guys.

          8                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Is there some

         10  concern that if you use shellfish or whatever that

         11  people might consume it?  Is that one of the issues?

         12                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: It's a huge issue and

         13    --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, so it's like

         15  the issue?

         16                 MR. MANKIEWICZ: It's the issue.  For

         17  a long time DEC has been looking at the attractive

         18  nuisance, which is problematic in one way.  When you

         19  take a keystone species like oysters, there were 350

         20  square miles of them when Henry Hudson came here and

         21  the Dutch lived here, and now there's a few linear

         22  yards here and there.  You take them and you make

         23  them illegal, you put the estuary at risk but

         24  they're right.  I have seen people feeding shellfish

         25  to their children right by landfills.  This is not
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          2  the way to go.  If we make reefs, basically it

          3  takes, you need a chisel to get an oyster off, so

          4  that's one safe way to go.  The rib muscle, I think,

          5  is completely undelicious.  I don't know of anyone

          6  that eats it, even Yule Gibbons finds them to be

          7  unpleasant.  And they're here in the multiple

          8  millions and their favorite food is in the one to

          9  five micron level, which is bacteria.  So,

         10  basically, if we were to have rib muscles, they're

         11  not edible, in general, and they're also part of the

         12  food chain and food web.

         13                 But, actually, empowering community

         14  groups from the point of Sustainable South Bronx,

         15  Youth Ministries, groups all around the estuary to

         16  actually be watchdogs of things like oysteries would

         17  be the way to go to protect them, to make sure that

         18  they're not harvested because that's an issue.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         20  Thank you, Paul. And Rick, I want you to know that

         21  with the growth of boathouses on the Meadow Lake in

         22  Flushing Meadows Park, there was an old, its, I

         23  don't know if you know Meadow Lake but there's kind

         24  of like a boat shack there now, it's like a white

         25  clapboard building that they do the boats in but
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          2  there's a big, sort of, brick building next to it,

          3  which is all sealed off and it, well, it's in my

          4  district, myself and the Borough Presidents are

          5  pumping millions of dollars to sort of, you know,

          6  reclaim that boathouse and make it, sort of, like a

          7  world class boathouse, whatever that would entail.

          8  And so, I don't get too many boathouse enthusiasts

          9  that testify before the Committee but I want you to

         10  know of the existence of that initiative.  And I

         11  want you to wire other, sort of, boathouse people.

         12                 MR. MULLER: That's wonderful.  Yes,

         13  and reclaiming the building and giving community

         14  access and enhancing, that's exactly what we're

         15  about.  And we're not the only ones.  There's the

         16  Gowanus Dredgers and there's the Long Island City

         17  Community Boathouse.  There are, there's a

         18  grassroots, a bunch of, we call them River Rats or

         19  Kayak nuts, or whatever, who are going to be happy

         20  to run a facility like this in just about every

         21  neighborhood and it's a terrific way of getting

         22  people aware of the water.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: It's a wonderful

         24  resource.  The only caveat being that there are

         25  Frankenfish in the lake.  However, I think if you
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          2  mention Paul's name they'll likely leave you alone.

          3  And Paul's got to figure out a way to, like, deal

          4  with the Frankenfish in some sort of benign, make

          5  them less frank, hopefully.  Okay.  Thanks guys,

          6  appreciate that.

          7                 Tim Gamble, Gamble?  Am I saying that

          8  right? Tim Gamble, Richard Lynch.  Tim Gamble of Red

          9  Hook Boaters and Richard Lynch of Sweetbay Magnolia

         10  Conservancy.

         11                 Okay.  Donna DeCostanzo will give the

         12  oath and then you can proceed with your statements.

         13                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         14  raise your right hands.  In the testimony that you

         15  are about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell

         16  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         17  truth?

         18                 MR. GAMBLE: I do.

         19                 MR. LYNCH: I do.

         20                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Are you

         22  Tim?

         23                 MR. GAMBLE:  Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Tim.  Okay.  Are

         25  these books from you?
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          2                 MR. GAMBLE: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh. From him.

          4  Fine.  Okay. Tim, please.  Proceed.

          5                 MR. GAMBLE: I have the written

          6  testimony there, as well.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Fine.

          8  Just state your name for the record and commence

          9  your testimony.

         10                 MR. GAMBLE: My name is Tim Gamble.  I

         11  am a founding member and volunteer of an

         12  organization called the Red Hook Boaters.  We run a

         13  program of free kayaking and canoeing and beach

         14  cleanups in Red Hook, Brooklyn.  In just two

         15  seasons, our program has become a big success.

         16  We've put hundreds of our neighbors on the water in

         17  a safe and fun way during 2006.

         18                 There are now free kayaking and

         19  canoeing programs in many spots in the upper harbor,

         20  and more are being planned.  In almost all cases,

         21  these programs were started by dedicated local

         22  volunteers who have taken responsibility for

         23  providing access on their own using public and

         24  private land.

         25                 Human powered waterfront recreation
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          2  and access to the waterfront should be encouraged

          3  and supported citywide for the following reasons:

          4                 - The City needs more open space for

          5  recreation;

          6                 - The nature of the waterfront is

          7  changing;

          8                 - The popularity of canoeing and

          9  kayaking is increasing;

         10                 - More access points drastically

         11  improve the safety.

         12                 As the population adds another one

         13  million people, we will be hard pressed to find

         14  enough recreational open space for them.  The

         15  solution is to expand the use of the local

         16  waterways. There are hundreds of thousands of acres

         17  of beautiful, unused space on the local waters.

         18  Nothing needs to be done to the water, its already

         19  here, we just need to keep it clean and provide

         20  access to it.

         21                 The nature of the waterfront is

         22  changing all the time.  The heavy industrial uses of

         23  the waterfront are quickly being replaced by housing

         24  and parklands.  There are new opportunities opening

         25  up all the time.
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          2                 The popularity of canoeing and

          3  kayaking are increasing throughout the world.  It's

          4  a great way to get exercise and be involved in the

          5  environment.  Human powered boating is one of the

          6  few outdoor sports New Yorkers can enjoy, which is

          7  just minutes from where they live.  The whole City

          8  is surrounded by water.

          9                 Increasing the number of access

         10  points to the water makes the sport much safer.  One

         11  of the challenges to canoeing and kayaking in the

         12  City is the lack of access points.  Most of our

         13  waterways are surrounded by high seawalls.  If we

         14  make more access points that feature beaches and

         15  floating docks, it will increase safety by providing

         16  more exits to start and end trips.

         17                 Please include the following specific

         18  recommendations in the PlanYC guidelines to

         19  encourage and support human powered boating in our

         20  waterways:

         21                 - The Parks Department has a program

         22  of official kayak, canoe launching sites and a

         23  simple permit process for accessing these sites, but

         24  we need to drastically expand this program

         25  immediately.  There's only about six or seven
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          2  official access points.  Throughout the City there

          3  are only a handful of these official points in

          4  public parks.  We could probably triple the number

          5  of official launch spots overnight by simply

          6  designating many existing locations as official

          7  launch spots.  These locations need to be designated

          8  official launch spots immediately.  All that's

          9  required is changing the listing of the sites and

         10  adding a sign.  Most marinas in the City are either

         11  controlled or regulated by the City. These marinas

         12  all include floating docks, which should be

         13  designated as official launch spots.

         14                 - We need to require public access to

         15  be a part of all new waterfront development.  All

         16  along the waterfront throughout the City, new

         17  residential and park development is taking place.

         18  All government owned or operated developments and

         19  parks should include access to the water for human

         20  powered boats.  All private development projects

         21  need to be required to allow free access to the

         22  water by the general public.  Currently, the local

         23  boating community has to constantly press for access

         24  to be included in public projects, in many cases the

         25  officials at the Department of Planning or the
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          2  Economic Development Corporation are not open to

          3  public access because they don't understand the

          4  issues and the government, the City Council, has not

          5  mandated them to consider it.

          6                 - In addition to access to the water,

          7  the City needs to support and encourage private

          8  ownership of small boats.  Very few New York City

          9  residents have the space to keep a 15 foot kayak or

         10  canoe in the apartment or house. Most also do not

         11  own a car to transport the boat to the water.  The

         12  City needs to take the lead in providing storage for

         13  privately owned boats close to the water at a

         14  reasonable price.

         15                 We need to stop releasing the raw

         16  sewage into the water, that's what the CSOs, that

         17  effort, that topic, has been explored extensively

         18  today.

         19                 We need the City to show guidance to

         20  other government agencies that control significant

         21  portions of the waterfront parks and facilities.

         22  Many parks that connect to our waterfront are

         23  controlled directly by the State, or by government

         24  agencies that are not directly managed by the City.

         25  These other agencies often set confusing or
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          2  contradicting access requirements to the water.  The

          3  City has considerable influence with these agencies

          4  and should ensure that the policies they set are

          5  open and accommodating to human powered boating.

          6                 Most of the groups facilitating

          7  access to the water are home grown non- profits run

          8  by volunteers.  Many of my colleagues in the boating

          9  community, except for Rick, were unable to come

         10  today because of work commitments.  The following is

         11  a partial list of organizations that are using our

         12  local waterways right now:  The Downtown Boathouse,

         13  The Gowanus Dredgers, The Long Island City Community

         14  Boathouse, The Sebago Canoe Club, New York Kayak

         15  Polo, The Hudson River Paddlers Guild, Rocking the

         16  Boat, Floating the Apple, New York Outrigger, New

         17  York Rowing, Coney Island/Brighton Beach Open Water

         18  Swimmers and the Manhattan Island Foundation.

         19                 Thanks.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, thank

         21  you.  I'd be happy to try to advance this

         22  recommendation, also pass it along to the Parks

         23  Committee, on which I don't serve but they would

         24  have the ability to have an impact on the Parks

         25  Department.  One thing that I think would be
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          2  particularly helpful, which you should consider as

          3  well, is that if there is a specific location and I

          4  know that you know some of where those locations

          5  would be, if you find out the Council Member for

          6  that area, that Council Member could very

          7  effectively advocate to the Parks Department to say,

          8   "Hey, I'm the local Council Member", and every

          9  Council Member has a relationship with the Parks

         10  Department.  The Parks Department doesn't have its

         11  own sort of capital budget for parks or whatever,

         12  and they really depend upon the Borough Presidents

         13  and mostly Council Members for funding of local

         14  projects, and so the Parks Department is going to

         15  Council Members, every Council Member, every year,

         16  with a list of, like, a million dollars worth of

         17  stuff that they want that Council Member to fund and

         18  most Council Members do that and so, if the Council

         19  Member wants the Parks Department to look, I got

         20  this little access thing that I want you to do,

         21  Parks Department, if they don't have a big problem

         22  with it, they'll say, "hey, whatever, sure, we'll do

         23  it, we'll take a picture with the Council Member and

         24  the boaters, it'll be in the local paper" and so,

         25  that, I think, can be a very effective strategy for
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          2  individual sites if you know of that you want.  That

          3  doesn't mean I'm not going to push for it like in a

          4  global way, but, you know, the way a lot of these

          5  things happen is sort of like on the retail level.

          6  The Parks Department is dependant on the local

          7  Council Member every year for a whole bunch of money

          8  and if he or she doesn't give it, then their parks

          9  go beggin'.  And so, I'll just throw that out to

         10  you.

         11                 MR. GAMBLE: Okay.  Thanks.  We did

         12  talk to the Parks Committee in the Fall, I think.

         13   --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Nothing like

         15  talking to the individual member.  Individual

         16  member.  Council Member so- and- so, you know,

         17  particularly if you've got people who live in that

         18  district who want to access this.

         19                 MR. GAMBLE: In most cases, there are

         20  the local people.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: This is, the

         22  script writes itself.  This is how things, that's

         23  good advice I just gave you. Mr. Lynch.

         24                 MR. LYNCH: My comments are going to

         25  be related to acquisition and waterfront access, so
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          2  the documents that I've given you, the Greenways to

          3  the Arthur Kill from the New Jersey Conservation

          4  Foundation and An Islanded Nature produced by Trust

          5  for Public Land.  A really terrific resource for

          6  understanding the watersheds that feed into the

          7  Arthur Kill portion of the estuary. So I hope you

          8  take a look at those.  They have some pretty good

          9  maps associated with them.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, thank

         11  you.

         12                 MR. LYNCH: I'm just going to try to

         13  read through my testimony here.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         15                 MR. LYNCH: My name is Richard Lynch.

         16  I am a professional botanist and plant ecologist and

         17  have been working on conservation issues on Staten

         18  Island for 32 years.  The Sweetbay Magnolia

         19  Conservancy was created in 1995 in order to study

         20  the remote natural areas along the Arthur Kill

         21  portion of the harbor estuary, as well as advocate

         22  for the creation of a wildlife refuge (or bio-

         23  reserve) for both the New York and New Jersey

         24  watersheds to the Arthur Kill.  I'd like to thank

         25  this committee for expressing an interest in
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          2  learning more about water- based resources in the

          3  New York Harbor.

          4                 As an environmental organization, the

          5  Sweetbay Magnolia Conservancy is keenly aware of the

          6  need to create a plan that will redress the many

          7  historical and current uses that have accrued to

          8  diminish the once abundant tidal resources existing

          9  along the West Shore of Staten Island.  At the turn

         10  of the 20th century, fully 1/6th of the surface area

         11  of the island was in primary Spartina saltmarsh.

         12  This means that where we once were able to measure

         13  the area of tidal wetlands on Staten Island in the

         14  many thousands of acres, today we can barely map the

         15  wetlands in the hundreds of acres.

         16                 By the 1960s, the City of New York

         17  was in receipt of nearly 15,000 acres of land on

         18  Staten Island (out of a total land area of about

         19  33,000 acres), mostly in rem properties that had

         20  come back to the City as a result of the regional

         21  housing market collapse of the 1920s and 1930s.  It

         22  was during this singular moment in time that the

         23  City could have proposed creating a comprehensive

         24  parkland plan for the borough, one that could assess

         25  the future needs of an actively growing island and
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          2  create discrete active recreational sites as well as

          3  separate natural area preserves.

          4                 Instead, the plan for Staten Island

          5  that was created in 1970 increased allowable

          6  densities in all areas of development (including

          7  residential, commercial and heavy industrial.)  The

          8  only natural parkland that existed at that time was

          9  High Rock Park, the William T. Davis Wildlife Refuge

         10  and a portion of La Tourette Park.

         11                 Ever since this time, the

         12  environmental community has been in a pitched battle

         13  with developers on Staten Island.  For every

         14  important natural feature we were able to protect,

         15  areas of equal acreage or importance were sold by

         16  the City for residential or commercial development.

         17  While the Borough President's office had an open

         18  door policy with land developers, environmentalists

         19  were often portrayed by local politicians as tree-

         20  huggers who cared more about butterflies than little

         21  league baseball players and the elderly.

         22                 Given the difficult political

         23  environment that exists in New York City, it really

         24  is remarkable that so many acres of truly unique

         25  natural areas have been protected.  The central
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          2  forested hills of the Greenbelt, coastal forests and

          3  meadows of Blue Heron Park, the Pine- Oak barrens of

          4  Clay Pit State Park and the endangered native plant

          5  communities of the ancient swampforests of the

          6  Corporate Park, which is also known as the Sweetbay

          7  Magnolia Swamp, have all resulted, not from any

          8  single planning document generated by City Planning,

          9  but rather by the tremendous dedicated efforts of a

         10  very few, though tenacious and spirited, volunteer

         11  naturalists and their allies.

         12                 Today, we are faced with the same

         13  challenges as in the previous 30 years, but with a

         14  few major differences.  The Committee should know

         15  that, while the need for additional City

         16  infrastructural improvements (such as DOS

         17  maintenance garages, public schools, etc.) Grows as

         18  the population increases and old facilities wear

         19  out, the City has just sold off the last large

         20  publicly owned parcel along the West Shore.  The

         21  site, known as Kreicher Hill and containing a

         22  population of the globally- imperiled Torrey's

         23  Mountain- Mint, is occupied today by (yet) another

         24  Home Depot, a Target, and (ironically) a giant

         25  Christmas "Tree" Store.

                                                            137

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 The willingness of City government to

          3  simply hand over these last large natural areas to

          4  developers can be very mean spirited at times.  At

          5  the same time that the City was negotiating to give

          6  away the land at Kreicher Hill (which was easy to

          7  develop as there were no wetland issues that needed

          8  to be addressed), the EDC has been scheming to fill

          9  the last moderately- sized saltmarsh on the

         10  Northwest Shore of Staten Island at Arlington (this,

         11  even though there is complete consensus of the

         12  site's importance as a natural resource).  The

         13  argument so far has been that the site may need to

         14  be filled to serve the needs of an expanding

         15  container terminal. The recently completed

         16   "Comprehensive Port Improvement Plan" clearly

         17  demonstrates that no filling of wetlands will be

         18  required for the Port's needs through 2060 and that

         19  (if additional infrastructural improvements are

         20  needed, they should be focused at the Port of Newark

         21  and Elizabeth).  It is disingenuous for EDC to

         22  suggest a need for filling City- owned wetlands at

         23  one site, while actively selling off City- owned

         24  properties for Home Depots and Targets at another.

         25                 Those who advocate for natural areas
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          2  acquisitions and management live daily with the

          3  apparent contradictions and hypocrisy of City

          4  government.  The proposal to create a legal

          5  jurisdiction for the Arthur Kill watershed is not a

          6  new one.  By 1980, the discovery of large nesting

          7  colonies of colonial wading birds (such as egrets,

          8  herons and ibises) raised concerns about the future

          9  of these nesting islands (Shooter's, Prall's and the

         10  Isle of Meadows).  After the 1990 Exxon oil spill,

         11  the federal government designated a "Harbor Herons

         12  Wildlife Refuge" in the Arthur Kill, though no

         13  delineations of, or management funding for, was ever

         14  pursued.

         15                 The recent defeat of a proposal to

         16  bring a titanic 82,000 seat NASCAR stadium and

         17  shopping mall to the Old Place Creek wetlands

         18  galvanized public opinion against the over-

         19  development of the West Shore of Staten Island and

         20  focused local attention on a remote area that few

         21  ever really knew existed.

         22                 Do you want me to stop?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well, I...

         24                 MR. LYNCH: Actually, the next

         25  paragraph is probably the most cogent one for you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  It's...

          3                 MR. LYNCH: Parks administers 95% of

          4  the East Shore of Staten Island, which is all

          5  accessible.  The City government administers less

          6  than 5% of the West Shore and there's not one linear

          7  foot of waterfront that is accessible along the

          8  Arthur Kill portion of the estuary.  It's a very big

          9  issue and I'd like to have more opportunity to talk

         10  to you at length about it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well, you should

         12  know that the only reason that, the only chance for

         13  Arlington Marsh to be preserved is because of the

         14  bill that I wrote, presumably you might be aware of

         15  that and we've, you know, sat down with Deputy Mayor

         16  Doctoroff and we're going to take him to the site

         17  and we're going to push that as vigorously as we

         18  possibly can.

         19                 With regard to the corridor along,

         20  along the West Shore, who's the Council Member

         21  there?  Would that be Otto?

         22                 MR. LYNCH: All three and also the

         23  State of New Jersey.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  Again,

         25  for the purposes, if it's City- owned wetlands, you
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          2  know, my bill has covered that.  If they're not

          3  City- owned,  --

          4                 MR. LYNCH: Well, that 675 acre site

          5  we call Old Place Creek, they call it NASCAR, is a

          6  natural area and it is the centerpiece  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  Who owns

          8  it?

          9                 MR. LYNCH: The International Speedway

         10  Corporation is looking to sell it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  So it's

         12  private property.

         13                 MR. LYNCH: And the City Council has

         14  already, Council Member Quinn, signed a letter

         15  calling for the City to acquire the site and use

         16  eminent domain, if required, to acquire it.  There's

         17  been some effort in that regard.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Who represents

         19  that particular site?

         20                 MR. LYNCH: Otto.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Otto.  Okay.

         22  Again, I can assert my jurisdiction when it comes to

         23  City- owned wetlands or whatever, but private, just

         24  like I've now partnered with Councilperson McMahon

         25  on Arlington Marsh because it was like part of the
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          2  jurisdiction of my bill, so I kind of partnered with

          3  him. I don't have any sort of like any obvious

          4  jurisdiction with regard to the NASCAR site, that

          5  would be for, I would have to talk to Council Member

          6  Otto and to see how he is, like, disposed, you know,

          7  because the people of the City of New York sort of,

          8  like, elected him to represent that area and I have

          9  to have some deference to Councilperson Otto and

         10  what his vision is for that area.  Because it is

         11  private property and I have to be somewhat

         12  deferential to, but Chris, you know, Speaker Quinn

         13  signed a letter, did you sign it with Council Member

         14  Otto?

         15                 MR. LYNCH: No. Michael McMahon.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  We'll

         17  deal with it later.  And certainly in the context of

         18  sustainability we can advocate for this but we

         19  should have a private conversation after the hearing

         20  because this conversation doesn't need to be on the

         21  record for the purposes of the hearing.  So, I'd

         22  like to thank everyone for coming.  This hearing is

         23  adjourned.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 4:30 p.m.)

         25

                                                            142

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, SUSAN FERRARA, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 14th day of February 2007.

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          SUSAN FERRARA

                                                            143

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, SUSAN FERRARA, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              SUSAN FERRARA

         23

         24

         25

